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  Introduction


  This book draws from my experience of living and working as a journalist in Argentina prior, during and after the Falklands War. Its raw material includes a series of exclusive interviews conducted with some of the main protagonists and access to secret information which has been supplemented during follow-up research trips to the Falklands, Argentina and the United States. The result is this fully revised and updated edition marking the thirtieth anniversary of the War, which examines the Falklands dispute and the nature of Argentine society within an expanded time-frame, from its early beginnings to the present day. The world is a very different place to what it was in 1982 and indeed in 1987 when the first edition of the book was published. However the disputed sovereignty claim over the Falklands/Malvinas Islands has remained a constant theme despite the shifting landscape of national and geopolitics. I remain mindful of George Santayana’s advice that ‘those who cannot remember the past are condemned to repeat it.’


  The Falklands War was one of the last major military conflicts to involve the international community in the twentieth century. Although fought between Britain and Argentina over some distant islands in the South Atlantic, it involved Europe, South America, the Middle East, the Soviet Union and the United States in one of the final power plays of the Cold War years. While drawing attention to the nature of geopolitical alliances in times of crisis, and the crucial role played by secret intelligence and special forces in modern warfare, the conflict also raised issues of sovereignty, self-determination and the justification of extraterritorial military action, which have gained relevance in the new millennium.


  In 1982, the disputed islands had a population of 1,200 people  a peaceful community that wanted to remain British even though successive British governments had inadequately defended them or sustained them economically. Argentina’s military regime, responsible for the torture and murder of over 9,000 ‘disappeared’, invoked a 150-year-old territorial claim, and occupied them with over 9,000 troops. Margaret Thatcher’s government had ignored the warning signs of imminent Argentine military action. But once this had taken place, it acted with extraordinary resolve. The biggest naval Task Force since the Second World War, with 20,000 men, including ground troops, ship’s crew and naval and air force personnel, was sent 8,000 miles away from home. In seventy-four days the islands were liberated. Given the issues at stake, it was a remarkably contained war in terms of the number of human lives lost  255 British and 746 Argentines. That only three islanders were killed underlined the fact that both sides generally fought within the spirit and intentions of humanitarian law. The fighting, when it took place, was bloody and cruel. But the incidents of defenceless soldiers being shot by the enemy were few. In a sense it was the last war of modern times not subject to immediate scrutiny. The concept of twenty-four-hour news and Internet-based ‘real time’ was yet to come. British and Argentine correspondents covering it complained of censorship. And yet several journalists gained unique access to the action, both on the islands and in Buenos Aires, becoming very human witnesses to the drama that unfolded. Even hardened war correspondents like Max Hastings experienced it as one of the greatest romantic adventures of their lives. It was too easy to dismiss what was happening as anachronism which owed nothing to logic or the problems of the world in the final closing stages of the second millennium in the history of mankind. Hastings and I, from opposing sides of the war, shared as he put it so cogently in terms of his own experience ‘an opportunity to break out of a humdrum existence to share a unique experience in which life, death and the prestige of a nation have been staked’. There was a palpable sense of heroism and tragedy common to both sides that was able to stir the public imagination. The enemy was not faceless, nor were his weapons generally remote. Ground troops fought hand-to-hand, pilots chased each other across the skies. Nevertheless the sinking of an old Argentine battle-cruiser, the General Belgrano  a survivor of Pearl Harbor under its previous US incarnation  by a torpedo fired from a British nuclear submarine, and the no less devastating impact on British/NATO fighting ships by Exocet missiles underlined both the effectiveness and human costs of technological warfare. And the sending of over 1,000 men to their deaths in order to enable 1,200 British citizens to keep the government of their choice raised an issue of proportionality.


  The self-delusion of a corrupt military dictatorship combined with the hurt national pride of Thatcher’s Britain contributed to transforming a diplomatic crisis into a war over competing sovereignty claims. Nevertheless there was a convincing argument  accepted by democratic nations worldwide  that a de facto British territory was attacked on 2 April 1982 and therefore there was a prima facie right to a military response under Article 51 of the United Nations Charter which provided for the ‘inherent right of individual and collective self-defence if armed attack occurs’. The initial Argentine invasion was achieved at a minimal cost in terms of human lives and general physical destruction. The handful of soldiers killed were at first Argentine, and certainly the junta did not violate human rights on the islands on the scale it had done on the mainland. But the occupation was nonetheless a traumatic experience for the island community with the imposition of a militarised society that was utterly alien. Part of the trauma was the justified underlying fear that the longer the occupation was allowed to consolidate itself, the more powerful the military regime would become and then perhaps any show of disagreement or dissent from the islanders would result in them joining the ranks of the ‘disappeared’.


  In any war, servicemen tend to maintain a face of duty and only afterwards, often long after it is over, does the mask slip. While this process happened faster on the Argentine side, it was belated on the British side. Over the years the euphoria of victory has given way to a more questioning account by some of the soldiers involved of what they did and how they did it. I have thus included not only some of the mistakes that were made on both sides, but also examples of the sheer barbarity of war if only because each time one is declared we forget how terrible the next one can be. The Falklands was a land where heroes were created and lost, some more real than others. From the perspective of history, as one Falkland’s veteran put it to me, it was a cleanly defined war that had ‘a beginning, a middle, an end, and a positive outcome’. Britain won an honourable victory. Argentina’s military regime suffered a humiliating defeat. The British forces were provided with equipment by the US but it was a war they fought by themselves on their own terms. The faith of the British people and their allies in the professional armed forces was rekindled, paving the way for their participation in the Gulf, the Balkans, and later Afghanistan under multiple flags. Thatcher’s own position as Prime Minister was hugely reinforced in the immediate aftermath of the Falklands War. Nevertheless the lessons of principle emerging from it outlasted her in a changing world context of interlocking and mutually supportive military and diplomatic strategies. There was a new world order striving to reconcile security, freedom, and minority rights. In Argentina, the war led to the collapse of the military regime, and the ushering in of new democracies throughout Latin America. Again the issues at stake outlasted the main political figures immediately affected. Argentina did not abandon her claim to ‘Las Malvinas’. And yet the end of the Cold War redefined Argentine society within a democratic context which, although imperfect, ensured that the future of the islands could be discussed on the basis of co-operation rather than underlying military threat. The islanders for their part emerged from the war with the promise of new investment and their rights to self-determination guaranteed by a more caring colonial master.


  This book has its roots in journalistic good luck: of being in the right place at the right time. During the 1970s Argentina had never captured the imagination of the world press like Chile had done. Argentine politics seemed altogether incomprehensible, and the occasional incidents involving the Falklands seemed remote and unimportant. My newspaper’s editor’s interest was briefly engaged though one lunch in 1981 when a senior executive of a multinational company suggested the FT should take a closer look at the state of the Argentine meat trade. At the time I was young and impatient. Anything seemed better than sitting in the newspaper’s main London offices trying to sub-edit other people’s copy. When a poorly paid job in Buenos Aires was announced there were few volunteers. But my fluent Spanish and background in Latin American studies at university helped me beat off the one-man competition. My posting as the Argentine correspondent of the Financial Times thus began just after Christmas 1981 in the grill room of the Carlton Tower, in London’s Belgravia. An Argentine Embassy official, clearly enthusiastic about the prospect that the FT might focus on commodity prices rather than politics, assured me that I could look forward to an affluent and fun life. I would eat steaks on a daily basis, drink tea with my British compatriots in the Anglo-Argentine community, see good opera, ride horses across the Pampa and, if I still had any spare time, observe his country being guided to democracy under the enlightened and responsible pro-Western rule of the military regime.


  Such a picture fitted perfectly with the somewhat romantic vision of Argentina I had formed from the writings of nineteenth-century British travellers, which provide an essential source of reference for the country’s history. However, it seemed to contradict the horror of human rights violations on a massive scale which Argentine exiles had told me about in London and Madrid. They also were not borne out by my impressions once I arrived in Buenos Aires. The steaks, tea, opera and horses were all there in abundance. But so were the beggars, the black market in foreign exchange, a practically worthless local currency, phones which would not work, abandoned motorways which went nowhere, and an underlying violence and regimentation of public attitudes made manifest in the brutality of the police, the absence of debate on any issue, and the identical clothes worn according to social class. The part of the city where we had our first flat was called Villa Freud because there were so many people seeking help from psychoanalysts with their sense of frustration about the present and lack of hope for the future.


  Three months after I arrived, the Galtieri junta invaded the Falkland Islands. Between 1982 and 1986 I experienced the war from the Argentine end, reported the subsequent collapse of the military regime, and watched the first firm foundations of democracy being laid by President Raul Alfonsín. Argentina  the land of infinite promise in the early part of this century which fifty years ago had had a per capita income greater than Sweden’s and Australia’s and a foreign trade larger than Canada’s  chalked up in the four and a half years I was there an inflation rate of over 1,000 per cent and a foreign debt of fifty billion dollars, before once again looking hopefully towards the future, on the basis of Mr Alfonsín’s bold promise of a New Argentina and a hundred years of democracy.


  Initial research for this book in June 1982 was stimulated initially by a sense of revenge for the past. I was determined to focus on the background to the war  its military planning and the motivation of the junta  thus recreating the real story I had missed in the first, somewhat confused three months of my posting. But the longer I stayed in Argentina the more I realised that the run-up to the war  important as it was in exposing not just the nature of military rule but also the diplomatic failings of the Thatcher government  could only be properly understood within a wider historical context. Thus this book looks back through Argentina’s military history to the Perón years and the repression which followed the 1976 coup. While the Falklands War is central, I have not attempted to give a blow-by-blow account of military and diplomatic events as there is already an extensive bibliography on the subject both in Argentina and Britain. Argentina’s own official investigations into the military conduct of the war  carried out by the military themselves  threw up very little of substance that was not already known. Essentially the information focused on logistical questions such as the lack of adequate preparation for the war and the failure of interservice co-operation. Little attention was paid to the chronology of events leading up to the invasion, the political aspect of the decision to invade and pursue a total war, the military’s relations with the kelpers and the way the junta took advantage of the good faith of its own people and international opinion by manipulating public opinion and dangerous secret alliances. By concentrating on these little-known aspects of the Argentine campaign, I hope to have provided fresh insights and revelations which remain relevant to an overall assessment of the Falklands War.


  Although my book is principally drawn from the raw material I gathered while working in Buenos Aires as a daily newspaper journalist, I have tried to avoid writing an instant history or a simple collection of published articles. Both during and after the conflict I conducted detailed interviews with many of the main political and military protagonists, including two Economy Ministers, numerous soldiers, from conscripts to Generals, and President Alfonsín himself. Although I was not sent to the Falklands Islands during the war (British journalists in Argentina were banned from going there by the junta), I made a point of visiting them in 1984 to gather additional material for this book. To establish the effect the war had had on the kelpers seemed to me almost more relevant to the future of the Falklands debate than any account of the Argentine occupation. I discovered that cause and effect were virtually inseparable and influenced island attitudes towards the new Argentina of Alfonsín. Both during and after the war I also made a point of bearing in mind British perspectives and research on the subject. Although objectivity is an unattainable virtue in journalism I take comfort from having been accused of being partisan by both sides involved in the Falklands dispute. During the military regime I was arrested twice on unfounded allegations of spying and subjected to constant intimidation, including a death threat which forced me to leave Argentina for a week in April 1983, on the first anniversary of the invasion. On the day British troops walked into Port Stanley after the surrender of General Menéndez, an anonymous phone call from London informed me that I was an ‘Argie bastard’. On the Falklands a number of kelpers looked on me suspiciously as an ‘agent’ from Buenos Aires. I am, I hope, what I am, half British and half Hispanic (Scottish father, Spanish mother) without a particular racial axe to grind.


  There is much in the first edition of the book published in 1987 that has stood the test of time and only a few factual mistakes were pointed out to me in the intervening years. But I embarked on this latest project to mark the thirtieth anniversary of the Falklands War, fully intending not just to cross a few ‘t’s’ here and there, but to include additional research material and make the book of interest both to those who read the first edition and to new readers. I hope this will include those who have grown to adulthood since the conflict and other generations trying to make sense, through history, of the troubled and confused start to a new century. Over the last thirty years I have revisited Argentina and the Falkland Islands on several occasions. My job has allowed me to develop a range of sources as an investigative journalist and historian. I have also delved deeply into government dossiers which continue to be released only in periodical trickles to the general public as part of the British State’s absurd obsession with secrecy.


  Diplomatic and intelligence material I have researched allowed me to gain a greater understanding of the inherent limitations in efforts that went into trying to find a diplomatic settlement of the Falkland issue prior to the war. It points in part to the dilemma which the Foreign Office coped with for many years  successive British governments, whether Labour or Tory, and Parliaments refused to entertain any discussion of sovereignty yet would not allow the resources which were needed to resist or deter a serious Argentine attack. Arguably with so few cards in their hands, and given the inherent instability of Argentine politics, it was remarkable that British diplomats managed to keep the play going as long as they did. But the new material also shows the extent to which British diplomacy misread the nature of the Argentine military.


  The government records that have been released to researchers in recent years confirm and strengthen the view that the official inquiry conducted by Lord Franks into the responsibilities of government in relation to the Falkland Islands in the period leading up to the Argentine invasion underestimated the failings of ministers to act on intelligence. It is now clear that Franks conducted his inquiry with limited access to potentially crucial government documents, and also failed to pursue lines of inquiry that would have undoubtedly shed more light on the failure of ministers and officials. Franks’ investigation into the Falklands issue was far less penetrating and illuminating than that of Sir Richard Scott into the arms-for-Iraq affair.


  Indeed the Scott Inquiry, which I covered for the FT, provided valuable insight into one of the new strands included in this edition: the involvement of Argentina after the Falklands War with Iraq and other Middle Eastern countries in the so-called ‘Condor’ project. I also owe a debt of gratitude to my former FT colleagues Alan Friedman and Richard Donkin with whom I worked closely on an investigation into the arms network which led me into revisiting the Argentina of Alfonsín.


  My earlier account of the Falklands War was written at a time when Alfonsín’s government was in its honeymoon period. I have not changed my opinion that the human rights trials that he brought about and the restoration of parliamentary democracy were hugely positive developments after the years of military rule. I erred on the side of journalistic enthusiasm for a process I was experiencing at first hand. With the evidence of hindsight it is clear that I overestimated one man’s ability to deliver on fundamental political and economic reform of a kind that had eluded countless governments throughout Argentine history. The secret Condor project which Alfonsín made no attempt to stop in his later years reflected the lingering power of sectors of the armed forces, while his eventual fall from power was due almost exclusively to his mishandling of the economy.


  While I have tempered my enthusiasm for Alfonsín, I hope to have pointed to the no less startling contradictions of his successor Carlos Menem, touching on the extraordinary way in which he balanced a political soap opera at home with the restoration of Argentina in the community of trustworthy nations. I came away from another visit to Argentina and the islands in 2001, struck by the seeming intractability of the Falklands question. The common theme I found on the islands was that the Argentinians could not be trusted as long as they persisted in claiming Las Malvinas as theirs, and that the islands’ social, political and economic life could be developed without them. The latest census showed that the islands’ population had increased to 2,379, that its standard of living was rising and that there was full employment. I questioned the islanders about the changes I had noticed since my first visit to the Falklands in the aftermath of the war: the air of smugness and materialism that had set in among certain sectors of the population, and the fact that elected local politicians still had vested interests in key areas of the economy such as fishing and oil exploration. I was still suspected of being an ‘Argie’ by some of the hard-liners. The local newspaper, the Penguin News, accused me of working to a fixed agenda of trying to force the islands to get closer to Argentina. ‘Mr Burns is out to get us,’ it editorialised:


  He knows that a number of his readers are uncomfortable with the image of their once dependent ‘poor cousins’ now living reasonable lives … and I will admit that if I were struggling on a low salary in England or Scotland or Wales I too might enviously gnash my teeth at the thought of a bunch of upstarts somewhere in South America allegedly driving around in expensive 4X4’s and living in big houses.


  So I was guilty of exaggeration for suggesting that perhaps it was also in their long-term interests to co-operate with their nearest neighbour, and that the huge military base was both disproportionate to the threat and served no other strategic purpose!


  And flying back to Buenos Aires I realised just how much and how little Argentina had changed and why, if I was an islander, I’d find it hard to invest my future in her. Argentina was marking the twenty-fifth anniversary of the coup that brought one of the bloodiest military regimes in the history of South America to power in March 1976. ‘Never again’ was the common theme of demonstrations, newspaper articles, and television documentaries, which recalled with an extraordinary sense of relief the collapse of the military junta and its replacement by a democratically elected civilian government in the aftermath of the Falklands War.


  The country was going through a big economic downturn, and a government crisis that had seen two successive Finance Ministers resign in less than a month. The most positive statement I heard in all my time in Buenos Aires was that the country had managed to ride out a crisis without a military intervention  a sign that the armed forces had neither the will nor the resources, still less the international backing, for another military invasion of a community that wanted to be left in peace.


  London/Stanley/Buenos Aires/Washington
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  A Nation at Arms


  ‘Soldiers are citizens of death’s grey land,

  Drawing no dividend from time’s tomorrows’


  Siegfried Sassoon


  Late in March 1982 the local English-language newspaper the Buenos Aires Herald described Argentina’s looming clash with Britain over the Falkland Islands as an ‘attempt to combine an Italian opera with a very British Ealing comedy’. And so it seemed to most of the outside world. The Italian opera was played out by an assortment of scrap-metal merchants, tin-pot dictators, with names like Galtieri and Perón, and an Oxford-educated Foreign Minister with a funny limp and a penchant for tweed jackets, called Costa Méndez. The Ealing comedy had the British military establishment and Parliament immersed in the most heated debate since Suez over a group of islands in the South Atlantic which the majority of English schoolboys had never heard about and which the Financial Times dismissed in an editorial as of no strategic, political or economic value.


  The opera had its mise en scène in South Georgia, one of the Falkland Islands dependencies but over 900 miles further east from Port Stanley across the South Atlantic. Until recently it had been administered from the Falklands capital, but in fact there was very little to administer. The only inhabitants had been twenty-two members of the British Antarctic Survey, quietly engaged in geological and scientific research. Several hundred sea-lions and some reindeer made up the island’s indigenous population. On 19 March the geologists, sea-lions, and reindeer were joined by the scrap-metal merchants from Buenos Aires singing the Argentine national anthem and raising the blue and white flag on an improvised flag pole. The occasion was reported to Rex Hunt, the portly Governor of the Falkland Islands. Diplomatic exchanges ensued, marines were sent on board a boat belonging to the Royal Navy and, on the morning of 2 April, several thousand Argentine troops landed on the Falklands. The combination of opera and comedy had given way to war.


  In the two decades that have elapsed since the end of the conflict, much has been written about its possible causes and in the process history has become to some extent mythologised by piecemeal evidence and partisan analysis. On the Argentine side historiography is already taking a potentially dangerous turn: the anti-militarism and self-criticism shared in the immediate aftermath of the war is giving way to a revisionist theory, which seeks to explain the war simply in terms of Britain’s diplomatic intransigence and Argentina’s own deep-rooted collective sentiment about the justice of the Malvinas cause. And yet this view of history as a series of patient diplomatic efforts on the back of a noble patriotic objective distorts the nature of Argentine society and the run-up to the Falklands War. For the invasion was exclusively planned and executed by military men with the precision of a coup; the event reflected their attitudes and their sense of their own importance as the pillars of the State. The landing on the islands was the realisation of a well-tested military exercise which exploited nationalist sentiment for political ends.


  In fact the only certainty about the early history of the islands was that they were discovered neither by an Englishman nor by an Argentinian but by a Dutchman. Sebald de Weert, an adventurous naval captain, sighted them on 16 January 1600. Thereafter Dutch cartographers included them in their maps for the first time, naming them the ‘Sebald Islands’. Most Argentines, however, do not have any real sense of who discovered them and prefer to believe that Amerigo Vespucci, in the service of the Spanish crown, saw them in 1502, ninety years before a British navigator, John Strong  a sea captain from Plymouth  physically set foot on the islands in 1690. And yet discovery does not come into the Malvinas equation. For over a century successive Argentine governments have argued that discovery alone has never been accepted by international law as the foundation of sovereignty. What makes discovery the key to any claim is occupation and settled administration. And yet on this argument, history was still open to different interpretations. The first settlement on the islands, on East Falkland, was carried out by neither an Englishman nor an Argentinian but by a French nobleman called Antoine de Bougainville in 1764 just south of the site of what was later to become the capital of the islands, Port Stanley. The following year, a British naval captain, John Byron, hoisted the Union Jack on West Falkland at a spot he named Port Egmont. Spain considered both settlements a violation of its rights over its traditional territories in the Americas  which embraced the Falklands  as subscribed to Britain and France in the Treaty of Utrecht in 1713. After the Spaniards protested, France agreed to cede its settlement in return for financial compensation. The British dug in for another two years before Madrid ordered a small naval Task Force of five ships and 1,400 men under the command of the Captain General of Buenos Aires, Francisco Bucarelli, to force them out. The British commander at Port Egmont, Captain George Farmer, quit the islands ‘under protest’ with his small band of marines, arriving back in England in September 1770. A year of diplomatic bargaining followed, leading to a compromise whereby Britain was allowed to return to the islands ‘to restore the King’s honour’, while Spain reserved her claim to sovereignty. Subsequently a British expedition returned to Port Egmont, resettled it for a year, and then left it, leaving a small plaque declaring the area to be the property of the British Crown. In order to make the British diplomatic climb-down palatable to British opinion, Samuel Johnson was commissioned to write a pamphlet where he wrote words that would for ever be engrained in those not inclined to be generous towards the Falklands. ‘The islands’, Johnson wrote, were a place ‘thrown aside from human use, stormy in winter, barren in summer, [islands] which not even the southern savages have dignified with habitation, where a garrison must be kept in a state that contemplates with envy the exiles of Siberia, of which the expense will be perpetual.’


  In 1790 Britain and Spain signed the Nootka Sound Convention by which Britain renounced any colonial ambitions in South America and ‘the islands adjacent’. The Spanish presence on the islands, which they called ‘Las Malvinas’, after the French had called them ‘Les Malvines’, lasted until 1811 when the first stirrings of independence from Spain in Buenos Aires led to the withdrawal of Spanish settlers from the islands. In 1820 the newly independent state of the United Provinces of Buenos Aires, forerunner of the present Argentina, declared sovereignty on the islands by inheritance from the Spanish Empire. The islands were for a while without a stable administration. They became the home of convicts and pirates, the refuge for whaling vessels from a number of nations. Only in 1823 did Buenos Aires appoint its first governor for the islands  Louis Vernet. He stayed there until 1829, bringing about a more settled form of local government and the beginning of a local economy, based on farming and trading interests. The British protested through their consul in Buenos Aires, sustaining, despite the Nootka Sound Agreement, that it had a previous claim on the islands. But they did nothing. Instead the British allowed a US warship to do the gunboat diplomacy for them. In 1831 the US warship Lexington razed Vernet’s settlement to the ground following a dispute over whaling rights. The action led to bitter recriminations between Buenos Aires and Washington and destabilised the administration of the islands. The Americans declared the islands ‘free of all government’ and Vernet’s successor Juan Mestivier was murdered on arrival by a group of Argentine convicts. It was at this point that the British, increasingly conscious of the importance of the islands as part of a trade route around Cape Horn, took their chance. In January 1833, Captain James Onslow arrived at the islands with two warships, Tyne and Clio, under instructions from the government of Lord Palmerston to take the islands for the British crown. He found a naval commander from Buenos Aires, Jose Maria Pinedo, trying to bring the murderers of Mestivier under control. Onslow ordered Pinedo to lower his flag and leave, which he did ‘under protest’. Left behind on the islands were a small community of somewhat wild and vagrant South American cowboys known as gauchos, immigrants from the vast prairies of the land straddling the River Plate, who had escaped from the political control of the post-colonial authorities. Led by Antonio Rivero, the gauchos fought a small guerrilla war which the British took six months to deal with. Rivero was arrested and deported back to Montevideo. The British would for ever more call him a bandit. But Rivero became mythologised in Argentine history, a populist hero who had taken on with his bare hands the oppression of the British Empire. The Argentine belief that Britain’s reassertion of its claim by military seizure in 1833 was an illegal occupation of Argentine territory has since been accepted as an absolute truth by successive Argentine generations of whatever race, creed or political sympathy.


  In the early twentieth century not even the considerable economic and commercial influence which Britain wielded in Argentina prevented Argentine officials from raising the issue of the Malvinas. On the contrary, anti-British feelings were stirred by the nationalist forces which began to emerge in the 1930s, and which found some sympathetic scriptwriters in a new generation of historians. These historical revisionists critically re-examined the British invasions of Buenos Aires in 18067 (when the River Plate was under Spanish rule), Britain’s role in the creation of Uruguay as a buffer state between Argentina and Brazil in the late 1820s, the collaboration between the local oligarchy and British commercial banking and farming interests, and, of course, the ‘illegal’ seizure of the Malvinas, in which the legendary Gaucho Rivero played a heroic role. For the selfproclaimed defenders of territorial integrity and Argentine nationhood, the United Kingdom became an enemy by inheritance.


  Revisionism helped to unearth part of the seamier side of British economic imperialism, such as the involvement of British farmers in the military repression of an anarchist land labourers’ movement in Patagonia, and the corrupt deals thought to be behind several of the British-owned transport and meat-trading contracts. However, it also contributed towards distorting the historical role of the nineteenth-century populist leader Juan Manuel de Rosas, and the man who took up his mantle in the 1940s, General Juan Perón. Both were depicted as symbols of a great anti-imperialist, anti-colonialist Argentina, to the exclusion of any other aspect of their rule, such as their contribution to violence and their erosion of democracy as an inseparable factor in Argentine national life.


  It was Perón, and the group of army officers who helped propel the General to power in 1945, that dusted Argentina’s claim to the Malvinas and turned it into a galvanising force of foreign policy. The scene was set for him three years earlier by nationalist sectors of the Argentine armed forces who emerged during the government of the arch-conservative civilian President Ramón Castillo. At the time, Argentina’s neutrality in the Second World War had developed into anti-American isolationism. In the Pan-American conference held in Rio de Janeiro, staged after the Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor, Argentina rejected efforts by the US to persuade Latin American nations to break relations with the Axis. In retaliation, the US imposed an arms embargo, halted credits, and curtailed supplies of oil tankers and machinery, while publicly denouncing the growing infiltration of certain sectors of the Argentine military and industry by Nazi Germans.


  Far from being dissuaded from further acts of hostility, officers of the élite military academy in Bueno Aires rebelled against the notion that their country’s future lay as a weak dependency of a moribund British Empire, and studied the feasibility of invading the Falklands. After weeks of analysis the officers concluded that such an invasion could be carried out with ease, but their secret deliberations were leaked to the Allies. Thus, it was, in 1942, that Britain first became seriously concerned about the military security of the Falklands. In June of that year, Winston Churchill ordered the despatch of a military force to bolster the islands’ defences, and about 2,000 men were garrisoned in and around Port Stanley for the rest of the war. Churchill seems to have acted in response to what he saw as the threat of an invasion by pro-Axis sectors of the Argentine armed forces supported by Nazi agents infiltrated into the large German community. The decision to despatch the military Task Force was taken in spite of the views of Sir David Kelly, the British Ambassador. Kelly was impressed by what he believed were the pro-British sentiments of the Argentine Foreign Minister, Enrique Ruiz Guinazu  a member of the traditional land-owning class which had strong trading links with the United Kingdom. Churchill, however, seems to have understood the nature of the military’s overriding influence on Argentine policy making rather better than many British ministers and officials who were to follow him into the inner recesses of Whitehall.


  ‘This is a country which is formed by Generals, liberated by Generals, led by Generals and today claimed by Generals,’ General Juan Perón told the Buenos Aires Military Academy in 1950. And this was a sentiment which, before the Falklands conflict, moved the imagination of generation after generation of Argentines.


  Long before Perón there was Don Diego de Mendoza, a leading nobleman of the Spanish court who in 1556 sallied forth with an impressive fleet and 1,500 troops in search of conquest and bounty in the New World. Mendoza landed on the shores of the River Plate estuary only to discover that his dreamed-for El Dorado had sand banks without silver and a huge expanse of prairie populated not by jewelled sun kings but by wild nomadic Indians with a rudimentary culture based on wood totems and animal skin. Besieged by the tribes and abandoned by their mother country, the conquistadores were killed one by one; those who survived suffered appalling starvation for which fratricide and cannibalism proved the only remedy.


  That the nation’s first military exploit was an unmitigated disaster was subsequently suppressed in the national conscience. Of far greater consequence were the exploits of the main protagonists in the struggle for independence from Spain. In 1806 and 1807, the fuse was lit for the country’s political emancipation when two British expeditionary forces were routed in and around Buenos Aires. ‘The great victory of Buenos Aires’, one of the country’s Presidents later wrote, ‘had a resounding impact on the world, and above all in the hearts of Latin Americans, who were now made conscious of a force which had been previously unknown. They were given a new sense of nationality.’ In the process General Santiago Liniers, a renegade Frenchman formerly in the pay of the Spanish army, became Argentina’s first military hero.


  Even more important than Liniers was General José San Martin, the man who abandoned service in the Spanish army in 1812 and led a revolutionary army of 5,000 men in an epic march across Argentina, over the Andes to Chile and up the Pacific to Peru. To this day there is no government office without a poster or a statue of him, no town or schoolroom unnamed in his honour. In Buenos Aires the ‘great liberator’s’ permanently torch-lit marble mausoleum in the cathedral dwarfs any tribute to a civilian. It also makes Mendoza, tucked away astride a small stone block in one of the capital’s least impressive squares, almost irrelevant. In the 176 years that elapsed between independence and the Falklands War, historians have dug up some curious facts about San Martín. His plan of conquest was prepared by the British; he wrote political treatises about the dangers of military involvement in politics; he exiled himself to France having abandoned hope in Latin American solidarity. But such details have been brushed aside, leaving intact the picture-book hero crossing the Andes  an effective symbol of Argentina’s potential as a great power and of her military glory. This concept was strengthened by the military nature of Argentina’s territorial expansion and the formation of the nation state.


  Argentina’s last international war before the Falklands was fought in 1862 in alliance with Brazil against neighbouring Paraguay. The war was a drawn-out and tragic affair lasting five years, with the initial blaze of jingoistic enthusiasm gradually giving way to domestic resistance to its economic and human costs  Paraguay alone lost half its male population. On the Argentine side it was fought by a hastily put together conscript army of peasants and gauchos. The war left them empty-handed but greatly enriched one landlord, Justo Urquiza, to the tune of 600,000 cattle, 500,000 sheep, 20,000 horses and more than two million acres of land. With such an ignoble war Argentina gained its northern provinces of Entre Ríos and Misiones. Thirteen years later General Roca avenged the spirit of Mendoza. He attacked the Indians who had surrounded the white settlers in Patagonia and put them to the sword. The ‘Campaign of the Desert’ pitted superior fire power and sheer numbers against the tribes. The subsequent orgy of brutality, alcohol, and disease annihilated Argentina’s most ancient culture, but Roca is remembered as a national hero who brought civilisation to the wild lands of the south.


  Nineteenth-century British and American history is peopled by military heroes like Roca. That only in Argentina do we find such heroes subsequently being used to justify a succession of military interventions in politics reflects on the weakness of civilian society. In spite of San Martín’s ‘great liberation’, Argentina remained a society in flux with an underdeveloped economic structure vulnerable to the swings of world markets. Tensions developed between a traditional land-owning class, who regarded their large properties simply as a badge of social status, and successive waves of immigrants, socially and racially diverse and having the hope of prosperity as their only common denominator. The feelings of these immigrants, who populated the empty prairies and converted Buenos Aires from a small commercial port into a large unwieldy metropolis, were perhaps best summarised in 1905 by the 300 inhabitants of Boado, a small village stuck in the midst of Spain’s northern province of Galicia. Accused by the Spanish authorities of being antipatriotic for turning their backs on their poverty-stricken land of coarse grass and granite and offering themselves to the Argentine President, the villagers answered, ‘Patriotism consists in eating and giving one’s children something to eat.’


  Argentina’s first constitution in 1853 paved the way for the establishment of Buenos Aires as the capital of a federal State, and a presidential system based around an elected Congress as the basis of the country’s political system. But the Congress was initially manipulated by a conservative party linked to the landed groups, which only fuelled the anger of the emerging immigrant middle class. Universal and secret male suffrage (women remained excluded from the political process) was established only in 1912, paving the way for the election victory of the Radical party. This grouping initially helped to interpret the political aspirations of the native-born sons of immigrants who had settled in Argentina after the 1880s. But a combination of overcautious reform, conservative obstructionism and increasing workingclass militancy influenced by European anarchist and socialist movements, turned Argentina into a conflict-ridden society in which political argument could be easily generated and where elected Congressmen were ill-equipped or unwilling to meet rising expectations.


  Compared to the divisions of civilian political society, the Argentine armed forces emerged in the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries as an increasingly solid institution to which politicians turned to defend their own narrow interests. While the 1853 constitution failed to produce a workable parliamentary system, it did secure the primacy of a national army over the numerous local militias which, under the leadership of provincial governorships, had divided the country after the independence from Spain. The turn of the century witnessed a series of reforms that boosted popular identification with the military establishment, the most important of these being the introduction of universal military service. Introduced in 1905, seven years before universal suffrage, the Riccheri reform provided its own form of participation for the immigrants and the sons of oligarchs alike: one year’s service in the army, or two in the navy. From this time on, the enlisted ranks of the Argentine army were to consist of a permanent cadre of citizen-soldiers. As the young conscripts were incorporated, their first act of allegiance was not to Congress, President, or even God, but to ‘the flag’. The ceremony symbolised the extent to which the military were becoming the standard-bearers of nationhood.


  The military forged an early sense of its own place in society thanks to the influx of German military advisers after 1900. They brought with them all the traditions transmitted to the Reich by the Prussian army. These traditions included social élitism, an emphasis on professional discipline  by which orders were orders whatever their outcome  and a somewhat ambivalent attitude towards what constituted the national good and the defence of the nation. Thus did the Argentine military achieve a sense of corporate identity long before any single political movement. As occurred in Spain in the early twentieth century, the army grew to possess not only a monopoly of physical force but also a disciplined esprit de corps which no other social group could rival.


  It is perhaps not surprising that the military’s first appearance on the political stage coincided with the Riccheri reforms. In an attempt to break the oligarchy’s hold on politics, the Radical leader Hipólito Yrigoyen organised a series of military conspiracies around groups of young officers, claiming that persistent electoral fraud had left him with no choice. Legitimate as such conspiracies may have seemed in the eyes of the Radicals, the fact remains that this belated Argentine experiment in the oldfashioned party pronunciamiento  so beloved of nineteenth-century Spain  assured the stillbirth of the very democratic system Yrigoyen claimed to cherish so much. These early conspiracies failed, but by 1930 the soldiers had reappeared in the political arena no longer as political mutineers but as active participants in the nation’s first ever military coup, which brought the Radicals’ first administration to an abrupt end. The support given to the military by large sectors of society indicated that the coup mongers had been absorbed as a political fact of life, as natural to Argentina as Liniers and San Martín.


  Between 1930, the year of Argentina’s first military coup, and 1982, the year of the Falklands War, the country had a succession of twenty-four Presidents. Of these only thirteen were civilian, although not one civilian government survived without having its constitutionally defined six-year term interrupted by the armed forces. The only elected government to have stayed the course and entered a second term was that of General Juan Perón, and yet no other figure in Argentine political history was more instrumental in strengthening the foundations of a militarised society. Perón’s election victory in 1946, far from democratising the military’s involvement in politics, legitimised their presence in government. ‘I am a soldier like yourselves, with the same preoccupations, the same problems, the same virtues and the same shortcomings because we come from the same school,’ Perón told a military banquet in 1949. There were occasions when, with the support of his charismatic young wife Evita, he would embrace the workers, roll his sleeves up, and say he was a ‘shirtless one’ like them. But for most of the time Perón wore uniform, subtly eroding the concept of democracy at home and creating a distorted sense of Argentina’s place in the world. Such a combination of authoritarianism and nationalism paved the way for a periodically aggressive policy towards the Falklands following the Second World War.


  It was Perón who brought to Argentina a contemporary meaning to the phrase a nation in arms. On taking power he exaggerated the threat of a Third World War, using this as an excuse for massive military spending and increased internal security. In his first years in government, over 50 per cent of total government expenditure went on the armed forces, a figure far exceeding the combined military expenditures of Chile, Colombia, Peru, Venezuela and Brazil.


  Sensing the rising tide of decolonisation in the post-War period, Perón stirred nationalist forces by launching a diplomatic offensive of new Argentine claims over the South Sandwich, South Orkney and South Shetland islands. In 1947, he rejected Britain’s offer to refer the revived dispute over the Antarctic to the International Court of Justice, and in the following year stepped up the pressure over the Malvinas. He authorised a much publicised manœuvre near the islands by the Argentine navy  a gesture which pointedly contrasted with Britain’s apparent decision to scrap five battleships from the Royal Navy’s strength. The British admiralty responded by sending the cruiser HMS Sheffield to the area in a token gesture of reassurance to the Falkland islanders.


  The troops that had been billeted there by Churchill had long since departed, leaving the islands vulnerable to Argentine militarist adventures. In January 1949, Foreign Office officials reported that the effective strength of the local defence force was down to fifty men, and there seemed little likelihood that the number would be increased. An internal Whitehall memorandum noted that the outlying settlements of the islands were the ones most likely to be the target of a possible Argentine landing, and yet it was precisely these areas that had a severe shortage of manpower. The prospect of mounting any effective defence was therefore judged to be extremely poor. ‘The defences of the islands are extremely weak,’ stated a Foreign Office memo in 1951, somewhat obviously.


  The toppling of Perón in a military coup in 1955 sharpened political divisions within Argentina, which for a while diverted attention away from the Malvinas issue. Nevertheless despite the return of civilian rule, the military remained a powerful pressure group, forever shaping the direction of government policies  a source of political instability that, combined with renewed nationalism, could always revive a threat to the disputed islands.


  The election in 1963 of Arturo Illía, a member of the Radical Civic Union party, as President of Argentina brought about an attempt to rebuild constitutional rule on the principles of democracy and nonalignment that was overshadowed by the powerful legacy of Perón and repeated political intrusions by the military. In the context of Argentine foreign policy, it led to a resurgence of interest in the Malvinas, with Buenos Aires taking its claims before the United Nations just when the organisation was taking an increasing interest in the issue of decolonisation. From the Falklands themselves, the then Governor, Sir Edwin Arrowsmith, sent a message to London noting that ‘such automatic weapons as our defence force has are completely outdated’, and warning that if at any time the Argentine government were prepared to turn a blind eye to the activities of the so-called ‘extremists’, the islands would indeed be in a very weak position. Yet Sir Edwin’s proposal that London should, at the very least, ensure that the small contingent of marines on the islands should extend their tour of duty during the local winter, became the subject of extended Whitehall discussion lasting months.


  While British ministers and officials debated, two Argentine civilians with good contacts in the military landed a light plane on Stanley racecourse, planted an Argentine flag, and handed a proclamation to a local inhabitant before flying back to the mainland. As they did so an Argentine radio station, Radio El Mundo, broadcast to the islands urging the population to keep calm during the ‘imminent occupation by the Argentine navy’.


  The pilot, Miguel Fitzgerald, was of Irish descent, with family memories of British brutality in the land of his ancestors. His copilot was Luis Vernet, a descendant of the first Argentine Governor of the Malvinas. Both men had needed little encouragement from their friends in the military, and the government, to pull off a publicity stunt that neatly coincided with Argentina’s diplomatic assault at the United Nations. When they returned to the military airport of Río Gallegos in the south of Argentina, they were welcomed as heroes by an enthusiastic crowd. Fitzgerald’s proclamation stated that his was ‘both the will and decision of 22 million Argentines, who were determined to see the end of the “third English invasion of territory”. One hundred twenty-two years have expired since the enslavement of Argentine territory which is now symbolically occupied,’ he asserted.


  On 26 March 1964, the London Evening News printed a short column from Buenos Aires that was subsequently ignored by the rest of the British media. It reported that after interrogating members of an extremist nationalist group called ‘Tacuara’, police had discovered their intention of planning an invasion of the Falklands. Little was known about Tacuara except that it had links with both the Perónist party and sectors of the Argentine armed forces and had claimed responsibility for a series of attacks on the Jewish community in Buenos Aires. The item drew the attention of the Foreign Office, and the British Embassy in Buenos Aires provided a background intelligence report once again pointing to the vulnerability of the islands and the limited options seemingly available.


  The activities of extremist groups in Argentina, noted one official, were indeed ‘attracting more attention’, and it was selfevident that any one of them could, if they wanted to, reach the Falklands in their own vessel, take over the local armoury and radio station, and within a short space of time be in effective, if temporary, control. ‘The Islands are in no way prepared to repel boarders and such a takeover would be very easy’, the official concluded.


  A detailed intelligence report from the Buenos Aires Embassy filed on 3 April noted that the daily acts of violence that were occurring both in Buenos Aires and the city of Rosario were symptomatic of the continuing political malaise, particularly on the left-wing and among the Perónist Youth movement. The acts of violence had included Molotov cocktails thrown at various British businesses, and led some of the British diplomats based in the Argentine capital to realise that Argentina was not such a peaceful and easy-going country as they had been led to believe by some of the civilian officials and representatives of the Anglo-Argentine community they wined and dined with. A translation of the statement by the pilots who had landed on the Falklands, described as ‘long, repetitive, and rambling’, was cabled to London by the Governor, with the attached comment: ‘All this has called forth a lot of hearty laughter this end.’ This was not the first, nor would it be the last time that British officials allowed themselves to be deluded by the appearance of comic opera in the Falklands.


  Less than a week before the Fitzgerald/Vernet stunt, the British defence attaché in Buenos Aires had reported to the Ministry of Defence following a meeting with one of his sources, a Chilean naval officer. The source had warned of a growing campaign of propaganda and demonstrations, timed and arranged to support the government’s case before the UN. The Chilean’s view was that the Illía government would not support any violent act against the Falklands as long as the UN initiative led to bilateral talks between Britain and Argentina aimed at the transfer of sovereignty. ‘My opinion is that a landing on the islands will not (repeat not) take place and that an over flight by the Argentines is unlikely,’ the MOD’s man in Buenos Aires reported.


  Following the flag incident, the Buenos Aires Embassy struggled to make sense of local politics, as it considered whether or not to allow a previously planned official visit to Argentina by a small Task Force of the Royal Navy on a tour of Latin America linked to British defence sales. A follow-up diplomatic cable, marked ‘secret’, offered the analysis that the Argentine navy had grown increasingly sensitive about the visit since it feared it could compromise them politically. The Embassy’s assessment of the Argentine navy was that it was ‘traditionally ultraconservative’, and was known to have strong ties with the Royal Navy. It was therefore the object of suspicion by the more liberally minded ‘blues’ who controlled the army and airforce and were then in ultimate control of the political situation.


  The Embassy’s memorandum noted as important the fact that the Duke of Edinburgh’s visit to Argentina in 1962 had coincided with the military coup that had unseated the civilian government of Arturo Frondizi. It also noted that Lord Mountbatten’s visit in the following year preceded an abortive coup by the Argentine navy aimed at the ‘blues’. And yet, the Embassy memo went on, cancellation of the Royal Navy’s visit would be difficult to reconcile with the traditional British interpretation of Argentine policy, which was that governments could vigorously frame their claim to the Falklands in diplomatic terms without damaging Anglo-Argentine relations.


  The Embassy had sought and obtained reassurances from civilian government ministers that the Fitzgerald/Vernet incident did not have any kind of official endorsement. President Illía had himself told the Associated Press correspondent that he did not consider the diplomatic offensive over the Falklands as a conflict but simply as a ‘reiteration of Argentine claims’. And yet nothing that Britain was prepared to offer had shaken the Argentine government in its conviction that it was moving with the spirit of the times on the issue of decolonisation, and that sooner or later, the islands would be handed over to them.


  The Illía government  sensitive to the nationalist forces that prevailed both inside and outside the armed forces  raised the Falklands issue in a subcommittee of the UN’s Committee of 24 that was considering a declaration on the granting of independence to colonial countries and people. Faced with the backing of Argentina by a substantial majority of Latin American countries within the Committee, the British representative declared that while the British government considered the question of sovereignty over the islands non-negotiable, it was willing to discuss the maintenance and development of peaceful relations between the UK and the Falkland Islands on the one hand and Argentina on the other.


  A meeting of Whitehall’s Joint Intelligence Committee at the end of September suggested that not everyone shared in the sense of complacency that periodically emerged from the Embassy in Buenos Aires. The JIC thought it unlikely that the Argentine government would give full encouragement to any freelance operation indulging in further escapades. However, it pointed to the heightened level of propaganda hostile to British sovereignty over the islands that was being fuelled by Argentine diplomacy. This, the JIC warned, was an incitement of such operations, and it was doubtful about official reassurances that the Buenos Aires government was doing all it could to prevent them. ‘If any such venture ever achieved success,’ concluded the intelligence report, ‘the attitude of the Argentine government might change radically under the pressure of public opinion.’


  Certainly reports from the islands themselves simply confirmed their vulnerability. One report filed by the Governor that October underlined that while the islands’ volunteer defence force and a limited group of marines might be able to hold up a limited armed raid, there would be no way of beating the raiders back to the sea. ‘Once away, they would have a clear run.’ There was also almost nothing that could be done in the event of largescale action short of temporarily defending vital communication points and government buildings.


  Within Whitehall, some officials from the Foreign Office and the Ministry of Defence still argued strongly that the six-vessel Royal Navy squadron should proceed on its planned goodwill visit to the ports of Puerto Belgrano, Mar del Plata, and Buenos Aires. One of the main aims of the visit, which had the full backing of the Foreign Office and the Board of Trade according to one internal memorandum, was ‘to demonstrate our naval power and to show our latest ships and weapons with a view to possible sales’. But a different reasoning prevailed in the light of the intelligence warnings, and ministers in early October agreed instead that a warship should be detached from the squadron, which was then off the coast of Ecuador, and despatched south via the Chilean military base of Punta Arenas in order to show the flag and boost morale on the islands. Meanwhile an extensive JIC assessment on the possible military threats to the islands was circulated among the doubting Thomases. The intelligence report predicted three possible scenarios, in declining level of likelihood. The first involved a hit-and-run raid of a more serious nature than the Fitzgerald stunt, designed to attract publicity and cause Her Majesty’s Government maximum embarrassment, but this time involving the seizure of the local broadcasting station, one or other government buildings, the kidnapping of a senior local official, and various acts of sabotage. The second would have a small party asserting Argentine sovereignty in some less dramatic but potentially more lasting way by taking possession of some isolated, uninhabited part of the islands. The third, described as the ‘fullscale military type’, predicted a probable upper-limit of five fishing vessels, two light aircraft, and a force of about fifty men carrying light machine guns, light mortars, grenades, rifles and pistols.


  Just before Christmas, ministers authorised the extended stay on the islands of a small detachment of marines amid continuing resistance within Whitehall. With its focus still on other areas of the world it felt of more strategic importance, the Ministry of Defence argued strongly that the stationing of the marines on extended duty in the Falklands was an interim solution that should not be repeated in future years. It took the view that the most satisfactory solution and the least costly way of defending the islands would be to build up the local defence force.


  During much of 1965, pressure over the islands appeared to lessen from Buenos Aires as the government focused on a growing internal political crisis fuelled by a campaign of industrial action organised by the Perónist trade unions. Nonetheless a JIC report in March considered that while it was unlikely that the government would launch an attack on the islands, its attitude might change rapidly under pressure of public opinion. On 16 December 1965, the UN General Assembly in its Resolution 2065 referred to the ‘cherished aim of bringing an end everywhere to colonialism in all its forms, one of which covers the case of the Falkland Islands (Malvinas)’. It then went on to invite the British and Argentine governments to proceed without delay with negotiations with a view to finding a peaceful solution to the problem, ‘bearing in mind the provisions and objectives of the UN Charter and of Resolution 154 (XV) [on colonialism] and in the interests of the population of the Falkland Islands (Malvinas)’. The resolution was regarded as a major diplomatic triumph by Buenos Aires, supporting as it did Argentina’s contention that the future of the Falklands was worth negotiating about, and at the same time giving international recognition to the fact that Argentina had an interest in the islands.


  Crucially, however, by January 1966, when the British Foreign and Commonwealth Secretary, Michael Stewart, visited Buenos Aires  and Argentina’s claim to the Malvinas was once again raised by the Foreign Ministry  public opinion was growing accustomed to the prospect of another military coup  not against the islands, but against the Radical government. Stewart explained that the British government’s adherence to Article 73 of the UN Charter meant that it attached paramount importance to the wishes of the Falkland islanders themselves. In reply, Stewart’s Argentine counterpart, Miguel Angel Zavala Ortiz, described the islands as an integral part of Argentine territory in which the islanders’ interests, not wishes, would be respected. It was the kind of diplomatic deadlock which either side might have, in different circumstances, attempted to break.


  But President Illía had lost the backing of the military, and was under assault from the Perónists. On 28 June 1966, tanks and troops surrounded the presidential Casa Rosada with the formal blessing of the three military Chiefs-of-Staff, General Pascual Pistarini, Admiral Benigno Varela, and air force Brigadier Adolfo Alvarez, and the tacit support of a majority of the Argentine people. General Julio Alsogaray was appointed with the task of telling Illía that he had been replaced.


  ‘Who are you?’ asked Illía.


  ‘I’ve brought an order from the Commander-in-Chief,’ replied Alsogaray.


  ‘But I am the Commander-in-Chief and you are a vulgar upstart who uses weapons and disloyal soldiers to violate the law. You are nothing more than a bandit,’ shouted Illía.


  ‘If you persist, we shall have no option but to use violence,’ Alsogaray shouted back angrily.


  ‘You have already used it, and you will continue using it. I am here not to defend personal interests, but because I was elected by the people to defend the law and the Constitution …’ Illía cried.


  Sixteen riot policemen armed with machine guns and tear-gas canisters took up positions at the door of the presidential office. One of them entered the office and told Illía that he wanted to personally guarantee his safety but would be unable to do so once his colleagues stormed the room. Leaning on the shoulder of Miguel Angel Zavala Ortiz, his Foreign Minister, Illía surrendered and walked out into the silent streets exactly half an hour after the police had made their presence felt. Over national radio it had already been announced that Argentina had a new President  Illía’s former army chief, General Juan Carlos Onganía.


  2

  

  Unwelcome Visitors


  On 6 Februry 1968, a Chilean cruise ship called Navarino docked off the coast of the Falkland Islands, within sight of the capital, Port Stanley. Of the fifty-nine passengers on board, the majority were English taking part in a tour of the Antarctic. Few had much interest in the islands themselves except for what they had to offer in terms of penguin colonies and other rare wildlife. Rather keener on taking a closer look at the islanders was an Argentine journalist, German Rozenbacher, on his first ever visit to that place he had known, since his school days, as the Malvinas. Like most of his colleagues, Rozenbacher, despite his Jewish origins, considered himself a ‘porteño’ – an inhabitant of Buenos Aires, South America’s Big Apple that had so dazzled a third-rate actress from the provinces called Evita Perón. Despite its propensity for coups, it was the most thriving and sophisticated of the region’s capitals, with its large middle-class population enjoying a cultural lifestyle that aped Paris and London.


  While on board, one Charles Smith, a garage owner from Hertfordshire, had tried his best to dissuade Rozenbacher from his preconceived notion of territorial rights over the islands. ‘Invading foreign territories is not recommendable,’ Smith had said. ‘The Commonwealth is a reality, a benevolent institution, a weight we cannot rid ourselves of because of millions of people who claim our support and we have to help.’ Another passenger, the East Anglian-born naturalist Ian Strange, had first visited the islands in 1959. He had settled after a return visit. He too shared his thoughts with the Argentine, offering to act as his informal guide. ‘It is very clear that if the Argentines gained sovereignty over the islands, we would all leave,’ Strange told Rozenbacher. And yet the Argentine journalist had not come on the trip to absorb what he considered British propaganda but to find justification for Argentina’s national cause. When he later came to write his report for the Buenos Aires magazine Siete Días, Rozenbacher delivered up, as a mouthpiece of Latin American solidarity, the words of an unusually talkative Chilean labourer he claimed to have met by chance, working on the streets of Stanley. The Chilean was one of thirty-five men brought in on temporary contracts from the South American mainland to make up for a shortfall in local labour. He described the 2,100 inhabitants of the islands as ‘nothing special – not one thing or another – they peacefully vegetate’. The English, he went on, had disconnected them from the world. During the last century they had done a fine job of destroying Latin American unity, and allowing the different countries to fight among themselves: Peruvians against Ecuadorians, Bolivians against Chileans, Chileans against Argentinians, while courting Uruguay as an artificially created buffer zone. ‘No one should be surprised that they have produced a community so artificial as the Falkland islanders who appear to be English but are only natives of the last colony left in the continent if we except Belize,’ concluded the Chilean. Such sentiments were music to Rozenbacher’s ears.


  Rozenbacher’s own report did its best to complete a picture of an anachronistic outpost of a receding empire that had no reason to exist alongside the New Argentina Perón had placed on the international map. The geography of Stanley was delineated along the two-kilometre stretch of the Ross Road, from the Royal Marines’ barracks at Moody Brook to the last jetty owned by the monopolistic Falkland Islands Company. He noted the Town Hall, ‘with its Roman-numbered clock eternally stopped at two o’clock’, the ‘enormous Anglican Cathedral’, and a general store belonging to the FIC with a notice saying ‘No Dogs Please’. The town itself was made up of some 350 wooden houses which, with their hedges, pale blue or pink walls, green or red slanted roofs and chimneys smoking peat fumes into the sky, seemed ‘to be taken from a fairy tale’. The entire female population of Port Stanley seemed to be permanently working among the cabbages and lupins, while the men drove Land Rovers – the only vehicles capable of going round the islands where no paved roads existed. Inside a ‘typical house’, the stove served both as cooker and heater. With ‘God Save the Queen’ broadcasting through a wireless, a Mrs Andrews showed her Argentine visitor photographs of her two sons dressed in Second World War British Army uniforms. ‘I do not want any change,’ she told him, even though one of her sons had emigrated to New Zealand. Rozenbacher meditated on a town ‘where at any moment you are likely to come across one of Dickens’ characters and which has suffered a wrong which is difficult to cure’.


  The ‘wrong’ according to the history books Rozenbacher had studied from childhood had begun in 1840 when the Colonial Lands and Emigration Commissioners had paved the way for the first permanent settlement under British rule, with the appointment of Richard C. Moody as Lieutenant Governor. Moody’s task of founding a new colony was not helped by the insufficient financial and administrative support he got from the British government and the unruly seafaring community that became the first immigrants – among them shipwrecks and European settlers from the River Plate. ‘Of good dependable colonists there are few,’ Moody lamented. The settlement was moved from Port Louis – on the north-eastern corner of East Falkland – to the site of Port Stanley. Large numbers of horses and cattle roamed the island, with gauchos imported from the River Plate herding the strays and driving them towards the town. Shipping to the islands increased, thanks to the ‘gold rush’ to California round Cape Horn and the Peruvian guano trade. On 20 January 1852, the Falkland Islands Company was incorporated and granted a Royal Charter by Queen Victoria. The idea behind the company was that it would be concerned with the commercial exploitation of the colony as well as keeping order among the population and safeguarding the territory’s security for the Crown. Over the next hundred years, the FIC’s economic hold on the islands grew, as it set up its trading store and warehouses in Stanley, and took control of land throughout much of the territory, making sheep farming operations the mainstay of the local economy. In the year the Argentine journalist Rozenbacher stepped ashore, the FIC controlled the Darwin – the vessel that linked the islands with the South American mainland – the harbour facilities, the main department store, the wool trade, and the bulk of the islands’ jobs spread across grazing land the size of Wales. With wool prices notoriously susceptible to world price fluctuations, such a monoculture appeared to have condemned the islands to a recurring cycle of boom and bust.


  There existed too, in his view, a ‘psychosis of imperial secrecy’. Rozenbacher thumbed the pages of the February issue of the Falkland Islands Monthly Review. It informed the population that Governor Haskard had left for London for consultations on ‘various matters’ and that a Mr Summerhayes from the British Embassy in Buenos Aires had spent eight days in the colony, ‘observing some of the problems of the town and camp’, before also leaving for London. The islands’ Executive Council consisted of the Governor, the Chief Secretary and the Financial Secretary – all appointed by London – two non-official members appointed by the Governor, and two elected members, voted in by the Legislative Council. This in turn consisted of the Governor, the Chief Secretary, the Finance Secretary, two elected members representing the Stanley constituency, and two members nominated by the Governor.


  While the islanders had had more of a democratic vote for much of the twentieth century than the Argentine nation – periodically condemned to recurring military interventions such as that which had led to the then regime of General Onganía – the contrast seemed not to have been taken into account by Rozenbacher. Little of what he heard or saw persuaded him that the interests of the kelpers were best served by the status quo on the islands. ‘A handful of islands with hills and valleys – only 400 kilometres from Rio Gallegos (Argentina), where, absurdly, apples from Rio Negro (Argentina) arrive via Montevideo after travelling 2,500 kilometres, where Argentine melons are a rare curiosity, where fresh penguin eggs are sold for a few cents because there are millions of these in the rookeries of the islands,’ he wrote. Along the waters of the Falkland Sound, there were ghosts of old whaling ships, almost hidden masts of clippers which had once fascinated Jules Verne and Robert Louis Stevenson. But the picturesque was overshadowed by the social deprivation the Argentine claimed to sense around him: the unfulfilled promise of a giant freezer, the itinerant short-term contract teachers from London, travelling across the country to give rudimentary lessons to the children of the farm hands, the absence of a decent school and hospital in Stanley. Albert Clinton, a spokesman for the National Progressive party that claimed to be in favour of greater democracy on the islands, was the only local political figure Rozenbacher bothered to quote. The journalist claimed to have conducted his interview with this ‘melancholy figure’ in a dairy filled with empty whiskey bottles. Clinton was reported as saying:


  This is our prosperity – a very delicate balance which any changes would upset. Some fear that transferring British administration to Argentina would destroy the artificial paradise. They do not realise that our wealth does not have a solid basis … the truth is another story. The people have had enough of the English.


  So where was the solution? The ‘logical conclusion’, argued Rozenbacher, was integration with Argentina, breaking decades of mutual suspicion and incomprehension with commercial and tourist links, paving the way for an eventual transfer of sovereignty. Many Argentines still believed that the Falklands were only an abstraction used by harassed Presidents every time they wished to create a smoke screen for their own political failings. Although this had sometimes been the case, Rozenbacher wrote, the attitude showed a ‘dangerous national blindness’. Sure he had found hardly anyone on the islands that remembered the heroic story of the gaucho Antonio Rivero who had led a settlers’ rebellion against British rule on 26 August 1833, expecting help from Buenos Aires that never arrived. But he was nonetheless certain that history was on Argentina’s side. A flow of human contact between the Falklands and his countrymen would help definitively break the banner of myths erected by British colonialism. ‘The English know’, Rozenbacher concluded, ‘that historically they have already lost the contest.’


  Rozenbacher’s article caused waves on the islands of a less than clear nature. While the Falkland Islands Company found it worthwhile to make 200 copies of a translated version for distribution to interested individuals in Stanley and the farm settlements, Governor Cosmo Haskard sent a memorandum to the Foreign Office in London to express his disdain. ‘The article is so full of inaccuracies that it is hardly worth commenting on. It has however been the cause of some merriment here,’ reported Haskard, before discrediting the man the Argentine journalist had described as the most intelligent inhabitant of the Falklands. The spokesman for the Progressive party, Albert Clinton, had sold his dairy filled with empty whiskey bottles and was said to be moving to New Zealand. In the islands’ latest election to the Legislative Council, which had taken place the month after Rozenbacher’s visit, Clinton had lost his deposit.


  That island opinion towards the latest Argentine visitor was less than universally charitable should not have surprised the Foreign Office given an incident that had taken place less than two years earlier. On 28 September 1966, a DC-4 plane belonging to the Argentine national airline Aerolineas Argentinas, with twenty civilians and the newly appointed military governor of Tierra del Fuego on board, carried out an unauthorised landing on the racehorse track at Port Stanley. The ‘hijack’ of the plane in Patagonia was planned with military precision by Dardo Cabo, his girlfriend Maria Cristina Verrier, and a group of supporters of General Perón, who were determined to destabilise a visit to Argentina by the Duke of Edinburgh with a symbolic recovery of the Malvinas. Cabo’s father Armando had been one of the mythical trade union leaders who had helped Perón come to power and who had later formed part of the close circle of supporters that protected Evita. The younger Cabo had followed in his father’s footsteps, organising the personal protection for Perón’s third wife Isabelita, during a visit she had made a few months earlier to Buenos Aires. He had helped the New Argentina Movement, one of several militant factions that between them covered the full spectrum of student extremism from ‘Guevarism’ on the left to Nationalist Socialism on the right. His compañera Verrier came from an establishment background. Her father was a judge, and her uncle had served as a minister under the military. Like the rest of the hijackers that plotted ‘Operation Condor’, Cabo and Verrier were products of the continuing influence that Perón had played on Argentine politics from his exile home in Madrid.


  A radical nationalist rhetoric, reminiscent of Evita’s before her early death from cancer in 1952, excited and stimulated a new generation of students, trade unionists, journalists, and military officers as an essential part of the Perónist lexicon during the 1960s. While in power, Perón had developed the notion of the ‘Third Force Position’ which he defined as a repudiation of both US and Soviet imperialism and the pursuit of an independent Argentina. From exile he reformulated his ambiguous ideological banners, associating them with liberation struggles against colonialism in the Third World, while keeping the right of his movement happy with occasional statements that made him sound like a fascist. It was against this background that the militaristically titled Operation Condor, the first ever recorded incident of a hijack, far from being a mere student prank, became a heroic chapter in the struggle to recover the Malvinas – a cause that fitted neatly with Perón’s own ambition of returning to power.


  The students who carried it out represented an ideological mishmash of anti-colonialism and national socialism, with more than a touch of unquestioning loyalty to the concept that politicised armed forces could and should form part of the ever elusive New Argentina. As Andres Castillo, one of the hijackers, later recalled in an interview with the author:


  There was an element of spontaneity about it all initially. Some of us had yet to fully engage in the armed struggle, and didn’t consider ourselves affiliated to any particular faction within Perónism. What were we hoping to achieve? We wanted to pull off something of a political coup to coincide with the visit of the Duke of Edinburgh. He was in Argentina to play polo. We wanted to pressurise the military President Onganía to take a stronger stand over the islands and force the British to negotiate sovereignty. We felt we were acting in the spirit of the Gaucho Rivero.


  Whatever the motivation of its individual components, Operation Condor made its way to the Falklands with no sense of apprehension as to what might be waiting for it, still less concern for the political storm that had detonated back home. Special Masses conducted on the hijackers’ behalf by nationalist parish priests from Buenos Aires to Tierra del Fuego were a certain sign that not only Perón, but also God, was on their side. Despite the temporary local panic caused by the landing two years previously of Miguel Fitzgerald, the British Ministry of Defence had won its argument for temporary reinforcement rather than a permanently enlarged professional military presence on the islands. The Royal Marines had been temporarily boosted to platoon strength, only to be subsequently reduced to one officer and five men – a fact that had not gone unnoticed in Buenos Aires – and which undoubtedly accounted for the relative calm aboard the Aerolineas Argentinas DC-4 as it entered Falklands air space soon after breakfast local time. The first anyone on the islands knew about the aircraft’s approach was when it was spotted, without detailed identification, by a local farm manager at around 9.20 a.m. in the area of Dunnose, heading east towards the settlement of Chartres. Fifteen minutes later, another islander in Fitzroy tuned into the island radio network and reported that a four-engine aircraft similar to a Viscount was flying in the direction of Stanley. The islands were still to be put on alert. All six marines were in Stanley, but at the time seemingly underemployed. According to a subsequent official report, a sergeant and a corporal were in the Old Wireless station, carrying out checks on the weapons and equipment stored there, while three ranks were in the barracks. As they were ordered to report to the Governor’s House for duties, the aircraft was already clearly visible just south of Stanley. Even then, the preliminary judgement of their commanding officer was that the aircraft was too large to land anywhere on the islands. And when, after circling twice round the town, the aircraft started a descent with its undercarriage down, the assumption was that the Argentines had come to drop some propaganda leaflets. Belatedly, the marines’ commanding officer, two of his men, and the islands’ Chief-of-Police, Terry Peck, set off across country in the direction of the racecourse, where two years previously Fitzgerald had erected the Argentine flag, and where ‘Condor’ had already landed.


  The officer joined a crowd of civilians that had gathered on the nearby Ross Road, while Peck and the two other marines – all three unarmed – were taken hostage by the hijackers. The Argentines had jumped out of the plane brandishing small arms and threatening to shoot. The act of aggression shocked the islanders. One of them, a sergeant-major in the local defence force, suggested that Bren guns should be fetched immediately from the armoury and used to shoot dead all the invaders. He was restrained by some of the other islanders and the marines’ officer. While there was an understandable concern not to put the lives of the hostages at risk, the marines’ officer knew what his orders were according to secret instructions drawn up by officials in the event of an armed raid, the kind which previous intelligence reports had warned was possible. The orders, drafted by Whitehall and endorsed by the islands’ Executive, included avoiding, if possible, any exchange of fire that might lead to fatalities on the Argentine side, which in turn might trigger a military reaction officially endorsed by Buenos Aires. Speaking through an islander who had volunteered to act as an interpreter, the hijackers’ leader Cabo tried to defuse the situation. He claimed that he and his comrades had not come as aggressors, they wished only to stay on the islands to live and work, and that the weapons they were brandishing were purely for self-defence. By contrast, the hijackers had issued a statement for domestic consumption that gave a rather more disturbing insight into the nature of Operation Condor. Issued by the Condor’s Chief of Staff based in ‘Puerto Rivero, Islas Malvinas’ (Stanley had been predictably renamed in memory of the Gaucho Rivero who had fought against the English occupation of the islands in the previous century), the statement was phrased in the militaristic nationalist tones that Perón and other members of the Argentine armed forces had made an essential part of their vocabulary:


  The responsibility for our national sovereignty has always been supported by our armed forces. We believe that it is the responsibility of US civilians, who have done national service, to demonstrate that what we have learnt in our passage through military life has laid deep spiritual roots … we are Christian and Argentines … we belong to a new generation that has assumed without faltering the responsibility of brandishing the blue and white national colours … We are here today because we prefer action to words. We represent all the political forces of our country, but we are united in our belief that it would be cowardice not to accept this challenge … today we set foot on the Argentine Malvinas to reaffirm our sovereignty … We pray to God to support our enterprise … If we do not forge the future, we shall be condemned to die in the past.


  Slightly less than sixteen years later – on 2 April 1982 – such rhetoric fuelled a full-scale military invasion of the islands. But that September events took a different turn. With the hostages still under armed guard, Cabo was accompanied by the marines’ commander into town where, in a heated dialogue with the acting Governor, he tried to press for the hijackers to be allowed to stay on the islands. He was told that he could return to the aircraft, but to consider himself, together with the others, under detention. Cabo went back and issued a statement that no Argentine could consider himself under detention since they were on Argentine territory and therefore not liable to British authority. The stand-off continued throughout the day, while local officials set in motion a contingency plan aimed at breaking it with minimum bloodshed. While the islands’ Senior Chaplain, the Reverend Millam, negotiated the evacuation of the group of civilian passengers, some eighty armed members of the local defence force were organised into a cordon to cut the rebels off from Stanley.


  Thanks to the training given to them by the marines and some improved equipment, the defence force had, over the previous two years, been turned from a somewhat ramshackle and ineffective group of volunteers into a supporting arm of the tiny professional presence, something akin to a Home Guard. There were no protests from within their ranks when the unambiguous orders were shouted within earshot of the Argentines. ‘If the rebels attempt to break out, they are to be challenged twice at a distance of about forty yards and told to surrender. If they refuse to halt, the section will open fire.’


  The breakthrough came several hours after the initial landing following tortuous three-way negotiations involving the island officials, the British Embassy in Buenos Aires, and the Argentine military authorities. Cabo agreed to release his hostages and hand over his arms, in return for the guarantee of safe passage out of the islands, on board the Argentine naval vessel Bahía Buen Suceso. The hijackers seemed content with generating the maximum publicity, without ever seriously expecting a military follow-up. They knew that for all the sympathy they generated among the nationalists in the armed forces, the then military President Juan Carlos Onganía would never contemplate allowing followers of his exiled political enemy Perón to go down in history as the heroic spearhead of the islands’ reconquest. Their time would come, but Onganía’s power base was as yet too strong. Operation Condor left a mixed legacy in the history of Argentina’s attempts to recover the Malvinas. While the possibility of a hit-and-run raid on the islands or something similar had been predicted for several years, the ease with which the hijackers had landed illegally and initially overpowered some of those responsible for the islands’ security had come as a shock. And while the incident eventually passed off peacefully with the local defence force showing remarkable resilience, the boldness of the hijackers and their rhetoric confirmed to many islanders their mistrust of Argentina – a prejudice that would continue to lurk behind any future attempts at reconciliation.


  The lack of sensitivity towards this aspect of local opinion on the Falklands was exemplified by the controversial report written by German Rozenbacher, the first Argentinian journalist to visit the islands in the aftermath of Condor. In support of his thesis that the Falklands were destined to be Argentine, and only the control exercised by a fading British Empire prevented the most natural outcome of the dispute, Rozenbacher had this to say about the event:


  The most upsetting blow the colonial authorities received was a delayed action bomb: the unaccustomed friendships created between the islanders and the Argentine passengers of the DC-4 Aerolineas Argentinas plane that was diverted to the islands. After this manœuvre, Argentina had ceased to be the ‘great unknown’. A few weeks ago some members of the Scott exhibition had to bring gifts to Buenos Aires from the Falkland islanders who had given hospitality to the people of the plane. Perhaps this explains why the Governor did not remove from the racecourse – where the Condor group landed – the huge iron pipes which prevent further landings. This would lead to friendships dangerous to the British crown.


  In Buenos Aires and other Argentine cities and towns, Operation Condor generated popular demonstrations of support which succeeded in disrupting the visit of the Duke of Edinburgh. The hijackers were briefly imprisoned by the military authorities in a token gesture. Onganía’s Foreign Minister, Nicanor Costa Méndez, told the British Ambassador that the alleged tough line taken was evidence that the military government had been totally opposed to the venture. In fact Onganía’s main concern was ensuring that the radical left of the Perónists, some of whom had accompanied Cabo, were kept under control as part of the ban he had imposed on political activity two months earlier. The uncompromising nature of the military’s repression of student militancy did not extend itself to issues of sovereignty. This was demonstrated by the relative ease with which Dardo Cabo and other former members of his hijack team were subsequently allowed to further mythologise Condor. Five months after being removed from the islands by the Argentine navy, Cabo engaged the tacit support of the local military authorities in Ushuaia, Tierra del Fuego, to launch a much publicised legal action aimed at drawing attention to Argentina’s claim to the islands. At the time anti-British sentiments were being fuelled on the mainland by a foot-and-mouth ban on the import of Argentine meat. Cabo applied through the local courts for the arrest of the Governor of the Falklands on the grounds that he, and the other hijackers, had been unlawfully detained on Argentine territory during the hours preceding their departure from the islands. The injunction was granted by a local magistrate who issued a formal instruction to the Argentine police to ‘arrest’ Governor Gleadell and bring him to his court to answer the charge. The case was reported prominently in Cronica, the mass circulation nationalist tabloid that had consistently campaigned against British interests and whose editor, Hector Ricardo Garcia, had personally joined in the Condor hijacking.


  Again the British Embassy in Buenos Aires sought and obtained assurances that the action had no official backing, and the military authorities made no attempt to have the Governor arrested when he next visited the South American mainland on his way to London. A telegram to the Foreign Office from the British Ambassador, Sir Michael Creswell, dismissed Cabo’s latest action as an ‘irresponsible newspaper stunt’ that had led to a severe reprimand of the magistrate concerned by the Ministry of the Interior. The sovereignty issue raised by Cabo undoubtedly boosted Cronica’s circulation. But it was also an essential part of an ongoing campaign that no Argentine government, let alone one dominated by the military, could afford to turn its back on. A few weeks after the Condor hijack, just before Christmas 1966, a small US-built submarine, leased to the Argentine navy and called the Santiago del Estero, broke off from an exercise near the Patagonian coast and headed south-east towards the Falklands. The absence of the submarine was noticed when the other vessels participating in the exercise returned to port. The navy’s official explanation was that the Santiago had stayed behind to patrol the shallow waters near the mainland off the coastal resort of Mar del Plata. So tight was the security net thrown up around the Santiago that only Admiral Varela, the Navy Commander-in-Chief, Admiral Boffi, the Fleet Commander, and Captain González Llanos, the submarine’s Chief Officer, knew about its true mission. As far as British and US intelligence were concerned, Argentina’s annual naval exercise was proceeding as usual, both below and above surface.


  Within three days the Santiago del Estero had slipped quietly and undetected into Falkland waters some forty kilometres north of Port Stanley. Just after sunset Captain Llanos ordered the operation to get underway. About fifteen marines climbed into two rubber craft and began paddling with silent speed towards the beach a few hundred yards away. Their mission was to use the available twelve hours of darkness at that time of year to survey the beach and its surroundings as a site of a possible future landing. But, from the moment they had covered the first few yards, they found themselves confounded by the elements. A strong current took both craft off course and they spent most of the rest of the night trying to regroup on shore. Miraculously the current abated and both groups managed to head back to their submarine before first light forced it to submerge again.


  The marines reported that, as expected, they had landed on a part of the island which had neither islanders living nearby nor British marine look-out posts (the British marine contingent had been reinforced from six men to forty as a result of Operation Condor). There was, however, no certainty that they had not been detected and reported. A cautious commander would now have ordered the mission to abort, but the Argentine marines, like the British SAS, admit ‘no limits to what determined men can achieve’. For the crew of the Santiago this was a high-point in their careers which they were not prepared to throw away. As one officer involved in the operation later recalled: ‘It was really a very moving experience. We can spend most of our lives looking at maps and carrying out mock exercises, and yet here we were at last doing something for real, something concrete.’ So Captain Llanos decided to give it a second try. After spending a further day submerged, the Santiago surfaced again the next night and the two craft were sent back down to the water. This time some determined rowing took the contingent of marines to the planned rendezvous without further mishap and the crew spent the rest of the night unmolested. For over four hours they inspected the beach, measured distances and probed the nearby countryside for tracks before returning to their submarine.


  The mission appears to have had two specific aims: firstly reconnaissance of a beach that could, if and when needed, be used for an eventual military operation. A contingency plan was then already in the books of the military, although political differences between Varela and Onganía appear to have held up its execution. Secondly the navy wanted to test British intelligence and their own capacity to keep a secret. The mission succeeded on both fronts.


  When history repeats itself it tends to become farce, and yet the Argentine recovery of the Falkland Islands sixteen years later smacked of déjà vu. The preparations for the invasion of 2 April depended on secrecy for their success; when the invasion finally got underway the entire exercise nearly collapsed when a craft carrying the first troops was swept off course by the currents. Significantly the man entrusted with the planning and overall execution of the invasion, Admiral Lombardo, had in 1966 served as the Second Officer on the Santiago del Estero. Thus the limited exercise of 1966 laid the ground for a far more ambitious military project without firing a shot. The very fact that the exercise had taken place at all confirmed in the minds of an emerging generation of naval officers the vulnerability of the islands and the ease with which Argentine troops could do with them what they willed.


  By the end of 1966, there was no doubt within the Foreign Office that Argentina could, if she wanted to, occupy the islands by force. The assessment was accepted by George Brown and Fred Lee, the Foreign and Colonial Secretaries respectively, as they prepared to resume negotiations with Argentina aimed at putting the country’s relationship with the islands on a more stable basis. In an effort to achieve this, the broad thrust of British diplomacy was focused on trying to convince Argentina that her best interests, as much as those of the islanders, lay in increased communication and familiarity. The lack of any strategic interest in the islands, and the British Ministry of Defence’s own reluctance to contemplate reassigning reinforcements to them, could, the Foreign Office felt, act to the islands’ advantage. A relatively defenceless Falklands helped give the lie to the Argentine argument that the islanders were under some kind of colonial military occupation against their will. It would also limit the kind of provocation that the Argentine armed forces might use to justify an invasion. What British officials fatefully miscalculated was the extent to which their strategy would be undermined by Argentine politics.


  Much to the chagrin of those Perónists who dreamed of an early reinstatement of their leader, by early 1967 General Onganía had established a hard line regime, which had demonstrated its ability to quell any rival bid for power. That human rights were being violated mattered less to British officials than the fact that there was a rare context of political stability that assured continuity across the negotiating table, and a regime sufficiently supportive of foreign investment to guarantee British economic interests. Despite the fact that the military retained strong nationalist elements within the institution, and there were tensions between the army and the navy, Onganía was viewed as a man sufficiently in control to keep the fanatics on a tight leash. His Foreign Minister, Nicanor Costa Méndez, was a fluent English speaker who had made his fortune as a legal consultant to several British companies. He was adept in speaking to British diplomats in a language they understood both literally and metaphorically. Whenever an unforeseen incident ruffled the cosy feathers of Anglo-Argentine bilateral relations, the charming Oxford-educated Costa Méndez was there to add a convincing air of gentleman’s honour. In the diplomatic dinner parties which British Embassy officials shared with their counterparts in the Foreign Ministry, the joke was that there were ‘f-words’ that were destined to strain bilateral relations – football, foot-and-mouth, and the Falklands. But both sides took comfort in the shared musing that Argentina would have become a much better country if the River Plate had become a British, not a Spanish colony. Costa Méndez liked to tease British officials with comments he knew would please them. They included the fact that there were very few Argentines from the metropolis of Buenos Aires who had historically chosen to settle in barren and inhospitable Patagonia. He used it on more than one occasion as a way of reassuring British negotiators that Argentina harboured no real intention of occupying the islands, only of flying its flag there symbolically.


  For much of the time negotiations foundered on the question of consultation. Whatever gloss both sides tried to put on it, Argentina’s position was still one that ignored the wishes of the islanders to remain British. It not only asserted that the right of territorial integrity was the paramount principle, but also refused to accept that the islanders’ right to self-determination was applicable in the Falkland’s dispute. Like Argentine Foreign Ministers had done before and since, Costa Méndez added that the islanders’ approval was unnecessary because Argentina had committed itself to comply with the stipulation in the original UN Resolution 2065 that the islanders’ interests should be borne in mind.


  At talks held in early 1967, British negotiators proposed a ‘sovereignty freeze’ for a minimum of thirty years. The time-span was judged the minimum to allow for improved links between Argentina and the islands, and to bring about a change of mood, or at worst an orderly emigration to New Zealand of those islanders who could not contemplate their lives as any different. The Argentine government rejected the proposal. In an effort to avert the breakdown of the talks, and minimise the risk of a resurgent threat of military action, the Foreign Office for the first time stated formally that it was prepared to cede sovereignty over the islands, under certain conditions, provided that the wishes of the islanders were respected. While the Foreign Office had begun to play for time, the strategy had the effect of raising expectations among the Argentine negotiators. As both sides worked on drafting a memorandum of understanding, Buenos Aires began to press its advantage behind-the-scenes with a little help from its friends. In September the British merchant banking house, Baring Brothers, was at the centre of a Costa Méndez proposal for an extraordinary deal under which the Falkland Islands Company would sell its controlling shares to the Argentine government. The idea was put forward through an intermediary, Carlos Helbling, Baring’s agent in Buenos Aires. An Argentine banker of Swiss origin, Helbling was a personal friend of Argentina’s technocratic Economy Minister, Adalbert Krieger Vasena. He, too, along with Costa Méndez, belonged to that coterie of conservative Buenos Aires establishment figures who had made part of their wealth as a result of their links with British business interests. It was no coincidence that the proposal came at a time when Anglo-Argentine bilateral relations were being strained by the UK ban of Argentine meat imports due to foot-and-mouth concerns. In retaliation, the President, General Onganía, had held up pending defence contracts with the UK, while threatening to choose a bid from a German company in preference to a British one for an ambitious atomic plant project. Costa Méndez saw the plan to buy shares in the Falkland Islands Company as multifunctional: it would provide the economic underpinning for the transfer of sovereignty, while at the same time forming part of a general re-establishment of Anglo-Argentine trade links in which the Argentine military and the British defence industry had a common interest. He found a welcome ally among the directors of the Falkland Islands Company. With world wool prices entering a cyclical depression, the FIC believed it would secure a good offer from the Argentines – a price dictated by political rather than financial calculation. Outline plans for the deal were submitted in a series of unpublicised exchanges between London and Buenos Aires involving Helbling, Paul Gore-Booth of the Foreign Office, and other representatives of the FIC and Barings. The view in the Foreign Office was that the idea was worth developing but only once the official Falklands negotiations had led to an agreement. It was thus put on hold pending developments.


  In November 1967, two months after Helbling had first broached the idea of the FIC take-over through an informal diplomatic channel, the Foreign Office received an upbeat assessment from the Embassy in Buenos Aires. It noted the efforts of the Governor of the Falklands to ‘smooth the way’ towards better relations with Argentina, and the ‘considerable realism’ that seemed to exist within the islands’ Executive Council. It predicted there would be less resistance to the idea of change once an agreed ‘memorandum of understanding’ became more widely known. The Embassy noted the onus was on British officials and ministers to ensure that the Argentines made a real effort to explain their attitude to the islanders ‘patiently and fairly’. But it accepted at the same time that the British could not expect the Argentine government to agree publicly to the reopening of communications with the islands (restricted since the mid-1950s) before it was in a position to make a statement showing that an agreement had been reached which ‘touches on the issue of sovereignty’.


  Early in 1968, the Governor of the Falkland Islands returned from a secret round of consultations in London wih a draft copy of the ‘Memorandum of Understanding’ and showed it to local councillors. After months during which they had been excluded from the talks between London and Buenos Aires, the islands’ representatives smelt a rat and had no hesitation in denouncing its presence. On 27 February 1968, the four elected members of the islands’ Executive Council sent an open letter to all Members of Parliament exposing the fact that negotiations were proceeding between the British and Argentine governments ‘which may result at any moment in the handing over of the Falkland Islands to the Argentines’. The statement provoked a huge protest in both Houses of Parliament, forcing the Foreign and Commonwealth Secretary, Michael Stewart, to make clear that there was no question of the British government ceding sovereignty against the wishes of the islanders.


  From Buenos Aires, a cable sent to the Foreign Office by the British Embassy took comfort in the fact that, with one exception, the islanders’ statement, and the parliamentary storm it had provoked, had been ‘objectively reported in the local press’. Most of the daily papers had confined themselves to news agency reports giving details of the statement and the subsequent exchanges in Parliament. The cable asserted that, ‘although this was given undue prominence, it had probably brought home to the average Argentine for the first time that the islanders consider themselves British and have no wish to change this state of affairs’. It added that in general ‘the treatment of the news from London has been surpassingly moderate in tone and there has been no effort so far to beat the nationalist drum’.


  The ‘exception’ was the newspaper Cronica, that old foe of British interests, that had lent its weight to two unofficial landings on the islands in the space of two years. Cronica had mounted a campaign against the implied suggestion behind the British position that the islanders should, like the inhabitants of Gibraltar, be allowed to vote on their future in a referendum. Once again Cronica had condemned the ‘illegality’ of the British colonial administration, focusing its attack on the figure of the Governor. The Embassy described as the ‘most informed comment so far as usual’ that of Manfred Schonfeld, the London correspondent of the conservative Buenos Aires newspaper La Prensa. He had drawn the conclusion from the islanders’ initiative that the negotitions were developing favourably for Argentina. He had surmised that although it was to be expected that the islanders’ declaration would be used to put pressure on the Argentine government, the fact that negotiations were continuing at all meant that the British government had accepted that a referendum in the islands had been ruled out.


  A few days later Schonfeld published an extensive interview with Arthur Barton, who had helped organise the lobby of MP’s. The interview was written in the florid style typical of so-called ‘serious’ Argentine journalism, with a rambling preamble, describing the encounter as a historic occasion that would help the cause of reconciliation. Buried in the sixth paragraph was the first direct quotation from Barton which should have left no doubt about where he stood on the issue of sovereignty. ‘The inhabitants of the islands’, he said, ‘are, and feel themselves to be British and wish to continue to be so. Why should the question suddenly arise that threatens us with having to abandon these islands on which many families established themselves three, four and five generations ago?’ What followed was less a frank exchange of views than a dialogue of the deaf. Schonfeld asked Barton if he knew anything about that episode when Argentine settlers and a small garrison were forcibly ejected from the islands in 1833 after having been under Argentina’s jurisdiction since 1820 unopposed. Barton was hardly surprised by the reiteration of a version of history which had been uncritically adhered to by successive Argentine administrations and taught to generations of Argentine children. He dismissed it as irrelevant to the discussion, although his next quote was once again buried in Schonfeld’s subjective, impenetrable prose:


  After all this time would it not be better to simply shake hands and declare the matter settled? Is it necessary to transfer the sovereignty of the islands with all its sentimental and practical implications for the inhabitants? What are you going to do with them when the enormous Patagonia is so sparsely populated? What I can assure you is that if the islands are transferred, the mass of young people will leave. And then, what will happen? The islands will become depopulated and desolate.


  Schonfeld pressed his case. Some of the youth were already leaving the islands, and emigrating to New Zealand. Surely continental Argentina was nearer. After all, Barton himself had sent his children to be educated in St George’s College, the English public school in a suburb of Buenos Aires – the eldest until 1941, the youngest until 1947. No matter that the second son had quit the Argentina of Perón fearing that he was about to be enrolled as a conscript. The eldest had gone to work for several years on an estancia in Patagonia. ‘It is evident that the ties between the islanders and Argentina are not so completely lacking as some sectors of opinion in Britin maintain,’ wrote Schonfeld before continuing along lines that echoed the arguments of successive Argentine Foreign Ministers:


  During the course of the conversation Mr Barton becomes informed of certain facts which are practically new to him, such as the cosmopolitan nature of our nationality and the existence amongst us of large foreign communities, with whom we live in perfect harmony, and whose children and grandchildren do not sever their spiritual and cultural ties with the land of their ancestors despite their complete adoption of the Argentine mode of life. He is made aware of the numerical and general importance of the British community, the founding fathers of the Nation who bore British surnames, and the many Argentines who, in both World Wars, fought in defence of the Union Jack.


  Both men were drawing to an end the interview, held in a hotel near Victoria station, when a detachment of guards marched by on their way to Buckingham Palace. ‘Yes, yes… the institutions of Old England. If the Union Jack had to be lowered on the islands it would be a sad day for our lives,’ Barton remarked. But the Argentine wanted to end on a different note. He mused that ‘the same madness’ must have beguiled Captain James Onslow, the British officer of HMS Clio, who in December 1832 forced the lowering of the ‘blue and white’ Argentine ensign, after claiming the islands for the British crown. ‘The only thing that can be said’, concluded Schonfeld, ‘is that under our ensign the Falkland islanders will live very well and they will be received with genuine fraternity as Argentine nationals.’


  While the British Embassy remarkably thought Schonfeld a sensitive soul, in tune not just with UK government thinking, but perceptive when it came to understanding the islanders, it was unable to extend such generosity when another ‘respectable’ Argentine journalist, Juan Carlos Moreno, penned a follow-up opinion piece on the Falklands issue claiming that only a minority of islanders were of British origin, and describing the ‘natives’ as simple, frugal, and incapable of determining their own future. The piece came as something of a shock to British Embassy officials. Moreno was considered one of the best informed and intelligent local journalists, the kind of professional the Embassy was happy to entertain, despite his reputation as an active campaigner for the restitution of the islands to Argentina. ‘Even allowing for his political bias,’ an Embassy official wrote in a telegram to the Foreign Office, ‘Moreno’s knowledge of the Falklands themselves is extraordinarily deficient and he seems to have been relying on some very unreliable and distorted sources.’ The official was nevertheless anxious to give Moreno another chance to redeem himself, and recommended that he be invited to visit the islands. The fact that other Argentine journalists had previously visited the islands and still written similar inaccuracies was conveniently overlooked. British diplomacy had convinced itself that the hearts and minds campaign was still the only viable escape route from the sovereignty conundrum. The extent to which Argentina was prepared to be strung along withut securing major concessions relevant to its claim was still dependent on a political situation that was less straightforward than it seemed. A revealing insight into the internal power play of the Onganía regime was conveyed to a senior British diplomat by a friend of his that served in the government. Malcolm Gale, the second-in-command at the British Embassy, was told by a source inside the Argentine Foreign Ministry that there were Argentine officials like himself who were thinking along reasonable not nationalistic lines. According to Gale’s report of the meeting, the source criticised the regime’s attempts to hold up British defence contracts in retaliation for the foot-and-mouth related ban on Argentine meat imports. ‘Excuse my frankness,’ the source had told Gale, ‘but it seems an astonishing situation that a policy of this nature that should be decided by the Ministry of Foreign Affairs is handled by generals who have no concept of political economy.’ The Argentine went on to say that he was unable to comprehend such an attitude, as it seemed to be on a suicidal course, based either on blind nationalism or a complete disregard for commercial realities. ‘There is an element of Alice in Wonderland in all this,’ the source said. He then added the observation that while previous Argentine governments had made similar mistakes, it now looked as if certain individuals in the present regime were likely to commit errors ‘for which the country could pay dearly in the long run’.


  Yet as the decade of the 1960s approached its end, British officials were beginning to believe that their room for manœuvre with Argentina was increasing despite the periodical nationalist stunts. The mood music they focused on was not the editorials of Cronica, but the conciliatory gestures of Costa Méndez, the Foreign Minister. Three days after Gale’s meeting, on 29 March 1968, customs officers in Buenos Aires detained a US vessel on its way to Montevideo, on transit from the Falkland Islands, and ordered it to unload its cargo. The customs were not looking for anything suspicious, simply responding to some official prodding to make a token gesture aimed at reminding the US Embassy that Argentina considered it had rightful jurisdiction over trade with the islands. The vessel was allowed to leave Buenos Aires after the US Embassy had shown itself very reluctant to make a major diplomatic issue of the interdiction, despite protests from the ship’s owners. The British Embassy, which closely monitored the handling of the incident, meanwhile persuaded itself that here was another case that could be filed among the list of not too serious ‘stunts’. At a meeting held six days later, Costa Méndez urged the British Ambassador not to allow the unresolved sovereignty dispute to get in the way of the proposed visit to Argentina of the Queen, as the Argentine people ‘will obtain great pleasure from the visit’. The Queen cancelled her visit. However, according to a detailed account of the meeting, relayed later by the Ambassador to the Foreign Office, there appeared to be a tacit understanding that against the background of a gradual lifting of the British ban on Argentine meat exports, Argentina for her part was now moving towards completing its defence and aerospace contracts with the UK for Canberras and Hawker Siddeley 748 aircraft. ‘Costa Méndez hoped that I would realise that his President had the warmest feelings for the UK,’ the Ambassador reported.


  Two months later, the Governor of the Falklands, Cosmo Haskard, addressed island representatives. In a speech to the Legislative Council, he sought to reassure them that their wishes to remain British would be respected by London, while at the same time suggesting that their interests lay in having a better relationship with Argentina. ‘The people of this Colony are very British; their origin, their family ties, their education, their form of government, all have bound them closely to the mother country,’ Haskard said. ‘A natural absence of interest in South America has been intensified by restrictions on movement in Argentina. But we have to remember that outside our borders the world is not static and the certainties of yesterday are not necessarily the certainties of today.’ Yet the islanders had yet to hear anything from Buenos Aires that would convince them that a change was in their interests – a point put to Lord Chalfont, Minister of State at the Foreign and Commonwealth Office, when he visited the Falklands in November 1968. Once again the pro-Falklands lobby was stirred back in Westminster, and the Labour government abandoned an attempt to sign a Memorandum of Understanding when Argentina refused to accept any safeguards that a transfer of sovereignty should be subject to the islanders’ wishes.


  In 1969 talks resumed, and were continued following the election victory of the Conservative party, led by Ted Heath, in June 1970. Argentine and British diplomats agreed to temporarily set aside the issue of sovereignty and focus instead on collaborating on a hearts and minds campaign they hoped would soften island opinion. Much as some British officials privately felt that the best solution might be to pay each islander a sum of money to emigrate and allow Argentina to buy up the Falkland Islands Company, neither option was politically viable in the aftermath of the parliamentary storms. Instead diplomacy focused on delicate persuasion, on getting the islanders used to the idea that Argentina might be good for them.


  3

  

  Awkward Neighbours


  The twelve-seater Argentine air force plane had had so many accidents that its pilot had nickamed it the ‘coffin’. The irony was not lost on Ray Whitney, as the recently posted new Counsellor at the British Embassy in Buenos Aires boarded it on a flight that was to take him from the Argentine capital to Patagonia and back again. A career diplomat who was later to become a Conservative MP, Whitney had arrived in Argentina in 1969 with the job of manœuvring through the intrigue of local politics and helping break the deadlock over the Falklands. Looking at his fellow passengers, Whitney sensed that history could be in the making, but had learnt enough about Argentina not to be over-optimistic. The others included three experienced negotiators from the Argentine Foreign Ministry, and a delegation from the islands on an official invitation to discover what Argentina had to offer. As things turned out, the flight went without a hitch, with Whitney happy to look on as Argentine officialdom laid on the propaganda, reaffirming that closer links with the mainland could only be in the islands’ best interests. The tour, starting among the privileged Anglo-Argentine community in Buenos Aires, took in showcase hospitals, English-language schools, and well-equipped ports and oil facilities. There were considerable oil and gas reserves both in Patagonia and off the Argentine mainland, and Argentines had always taken for granted that these extended to Falklands waters. Along the way the islanders were introduced to descendants of Scottish, Welsh, and English immigrants who had emigrated to Argentina and claimed to be happy running their farms in an apparently bullish economic climate. Not only did Argentina produce enough wheat and meat to feed each member of its population several times over, but it was also self-sufficient in energy and other strategic mineral resources. By the first half of 1969, inflation was under control and industrial growth was surging. Between 1966 and 1969 public investment had increased at an annual rate of 22 per cent, with new investment in energy doubling, and in roads, tripling. During a visit to the IMF in Washington, General Onganía’s stabilisation programme was hailed as one of the great economic post-War success stories. The fact that Onganía had toppled an elected government in a military coup was quietly ignored by the global money-lenders.


  The delegation returned to the Falklands impressed by what they had seen, but suspicious of the hidden agenda they believed was behind the hearts and minds campaign. Foreign Office officials were confident that as long as the Argentine government could be persuaded not to make sovereignty the central focus of the talks, the barriers that existed between the islands and Buenos Aires could be broken down. If they had a concern it was that the Governor of the Falklands, Cosmo Haskard, had gone ‘native’ and was not putting across the British government’s policy as forcefully as they wished. And yet the reality of the islands’ economic problems worked in Argentina’s favour. More people were leaving the islands than were choosing to settle there. The population had risen to a peak of 2,392 in 1931 and had been declining ever since, with the exodus from the ‘Camp’ or countryside most pronounced  a 20 per cent fall between 1953 and the early 1970s. The majority of migrants were young and among the locally born; women predominated, with the majority of female migrants emanating from Stanley. A significant feature in the female depletion on the islands was the tendency of local women to marry Royal Marines who were on detachment. Brian Mooney, a Buenos Aires-based British journalist with the Reuters news agency, discovered how acute the problem had become when he visited the islands in the early 1970s. ‘Men garrisoned here to protect the British-administered Falkland Islands could be causing untold damage to the population balance by marrying local girls,’ reported Mooney.


  The journalist heard from islanders like James Lee, a young carpenter, who described the shortage of girls as ‘bloody terrible’ even though he was one of the lucky ones to have hung on to his girlfriend. ‘The trouble is that the marines can tell stories about fancy places, but we only know the islands,’ Lee told Mooney. The British journalist speculated that if the population decline continued, the pro-British lobby could be gradually eroded, thereby easing Argentina’s avowed aim of winning sovereignty over the islands. Some islanders, less concerned about the sovereignty issue, jokingly agreed that Argentina could boost its policy of wooing the population by sending over a group of single girls.


  As would later be noted in the first detailed socio-economic report ever carried out on the islands, the population decline appeared to be as much a symptom as a cause of the islands’ under-development. In explaining the lack of investment and economic growth on the islands, and the absence of a dynamic local entrepreneurial indigenous class, the Economic Intelligence Unit led by Lord Shackleton pointed the finger of blame for the political, social, and economic inertia on the islands at the Falkland Islands Company. ‘The indigenous people have obvious qualities, including honesty, versatility and hardiness,’ said the Shackleton report, ‘but there is also an apparent lack of enterprise at individual and community levels, and a degree of acceptance of the status quo which verges on apathy.’ Shackleton attributed the situation partly to factors such as the pattern of settlement, the diversity of origins in the United Kingdom, and the ‘insecurity caused by the sovereignty dispute’. But the most important single cause was the ‘pattern of dependence’  mainly on the FIC, which controlled 46 per cent of the total area of the Falklands, and on Britain, which had hitherto taken the lion’s share of trade, defence, and identity.


  An analysis of the accounts of the FIC and the other farming companies that had sustained the islands’ monoculture of wool production showed the paucity of reinvestment in the islands. None of the companies had engaged in long-term borrowing to raise capital, nor had they issued further shares, so that capital employed had tended to remain static throughout most of the 1960s. The FIC channelled most of its retained profits into direct and portfolio investments in the UK rather than reinvesting them in the islands. While senior management often cited the lack of commercial opportunities in the islands, they were also responsible for not actively seeking them out. But undoubtedly one of the major obstacles to further private investment had historically been the fluctuating nature of wool prices. At the end of the 1960s, these were on the downward curve  a factor which strengthened the hand of those who were arguing for a new constructive relationship between the islands and Argentina. The economic vulnerability of the islands was underlined in a financial report prepared by the colonial administration. A drop in wool prices had brought about a decrease in taxation which in turn had thrown the islands’ budget into a deficit in the order of £136,000  which at the time officials described as a substantial sum of money in an economy as delicatedly balanced as that of the Falklands.


  Still, the island hard-core, with the tacit blessing of Governor Haskard, and sympathy from some Whitehall officials and MPs, maintained a rearguard defence aimed at restricting as best they could the development of formal administrative links with Argentina. Such an attitude began to tax the patience of some Foreign Office officials. Some of them were particularly angered by Mr Haskard’s foot-dragging over the issue of allowing visits by Argentine journalists. ‘If we are to be sincere in our policy of restoring freedom of movement between the islands and Argentina as soon as possible, we should take as liberal an attitude as possible to all visa applications,’ a Foreign Office official argued. The broad thrust of policy was on his side. In September 1971, the House of Commons was informed of the scope of the Communications Agreement reached by both governments. Under the agreement, islanders and Argentines could travel to and from the Argentine mainland simply with a travel document as opposed to passports, thus averting a piece of administration that touched on sovereignty. Both countries agreed to harmonise telecommunication rates, reciprocal duty and tax exemptions. And Argentina promised to provide assisted school places and scholarship schemes for the children of islanders, guaranteeing that none of them would be required to do Argentine military service once they had taken up their studies on the mainland. Perhaps the most important aspect of the agreement, however, was the establishment of air and sea services linking the Argentine mainland with the islands. Less than five years after the group of Perónist hijackers had forced themselves uninvited onto Falklands soil, the Argentine State airline LADE, together with the State oil company, were allowed to set up offices in Stanley, with key personnel  among them members of the Argentine armed forces  taking up residence in some of the smarter houses of the town.


  The agreement got off to a more or less auspicious start. Following the inauguration of a regular service in November 1972, using an F-27 turboprop aircraft, Argentine tourists began to arrive in the weekly LADE flight from the Patagonian town of Comodoro Rivadavia, which served as a transit point for onward flights south, and north to Buenos Aires. In 1973, the first full year of operations, 200 Argentine tourists arrived on the Falklands, peaking at 501 the following year, then falling to 350 the year after. An increasing number of Argentines also came to the islands during the four local summer months of the year  December to March  by cruise ship. For the first-time Argentine visitors, particularly those from Buenos Aires, the initial impressions of island life came as something of a shock. Brought up to believe since school days that the Malvinas were Argentine, and subjected to a constant barrage of government-inspired propaganda, they now encountered the gulf between the myth and the reality. The islands were as windy and treeless and undulating as the wide expanse of Patagonia, that many of them had been reluctant to populate. The British colony seemed curiously unprotected. Not a soldier in sight and the Chief-of-Police spending as much time as the local ‘bobbies’ drinking tea or going about his duties with an air of total relaxation  a stark contrast from the militarised society which had become part of Argentine life. Stanley seemed a piece of England transplanted to the South Atlantic with its pubs and quaint cottages, where the residents had breakfasts of bacon and eggs (sometimes supplemented through necessity by lamb chops and penguin eggs), and partook in the rituals of tea and gin. With the exception of a few Chilean labourers, an Argentine who had married locally, and some teachers from the mainland who had come in under the agreement and who returned to the mainland come the summer holidays, there was not a Latin in sight. Some of the better-off residents seemed no different from the English, Scots, and Welshmen living in Patagonia. In the countryside, farm hands rode Creole horses, using similar saddles and words to those used by the gauchos. But they weren’t dressed like the South American cattlemen, and the islanders altogether looked a rougher, less sophisticated people than the Anglo-Argentine traders and businessmen who lived in Buenos Aires and sent their sons to English public schools, but who hung on resolutely to their Argentine nationality, and encouraged their sons to swear allegiance to the blue and white flag as conscripts.


  To the eyes of the average middle-class porteño, or visitor from Buenos Aires  South America’s grandest capital with its wide avenues, palatial residences, theatres, cinemas, opera houses, parks, and huge variety of shops  Stanley was a minute and backward little village, with unpaved roads, a primitive telecommunications system, zero cultural life, and few other tourist facilities to speak of. A poorly developed local crafts industry provided woollen and wood articles which seemed crude and unimaginative compared to what South American Indians had to offer. The town had one small hotel. To many Argentines it seemed less a hotel than a pub with rooms attached to it  another piece of England, with its beer mugs, and bits of china, and curiously dull and uninventive menus masquerading as wholesome local fare. The bulk of the early Argentine visitors who took advantage of the improved links, did so out of a natural curiosity for the Malvinas over which so much rhetoric and diplomatic effort had been spent. Many struck a fruitful if somewhat mercenary relationship with local shopkeepers. Trade, mainly in wood, fruit, sheep, and cattle, opened up between southern Argentina, mainly Tierra del Fuego, and the islands. The Falkland Islands Company’s general store stocked up with luxury items to accommodate Argentine tastes, while local diet improved a little, thanks to the greater availability of fresh fruits and vegetables. The materialism of the visitors contrasted with the relative stoicism of island life. Much of the attraction for the incoming shoppers between 1973 and 1975 was the favourable peso/pound exchange rate operating which was well below the free market rate. In the 19756 summer the rate of exchange switched to the free market rate, leading to a sudden drop in the number of Argentine visitors.


  There were tourists for whom none of this really mattered. For the more adventurous and hardened travellers, there was the opportunity to observe the wildlife of the environmentally unspoilt islands, using the small planes and Land Rovers that provided the only form of long-distance local transport, and staying in basic bed and breakfast accommodation provided in the outlying settlements. One of the most beautiful islands in the Falklands, New Island, was bought by the naturalist Ian Strange in 1971. Two years later, sensing the opportunities of greater links with the Argentine mainland, Strange started wildlife tourism on the isle. In his book on the Falklands, first published in 1972 and reissued in an updated version in 1981, the year before the Argentine invasion, Strange described the Communications Agreement as probably the largest single step that had been taken in the long-standing dispute over the islands. He wrote:


  Although the final question of sovereignty may not be resolved for some time yet, the agreement has unquestionably lifted a veil of uncertainty. There is better understanding within the public sector, both in the Islands and in Argentina of each other.


  Undoubtedly friendships were forged  perhaps the most symbolically charged, in the early years, was between Strange himself and a young, attractive Argentine called Maria. She came to the Falklands in 1972 with Richard Rowe, her first husband, on one of the first flights of the air link. Rowe, an Anglo-Argentine, was laying claim to some family roots. His English-born uncle Ernesto had come to the Falklands from the town of Rosario, in the heart of the Argentine grain belt, and for the best part of fifty years, from 1922, had managed the Estate Louis Williams, one of the ten companies which dominated the island economy, through land holdings and ownership of Stanley’s all-purpose Globe Store. Richard Rowe junior eventually fell out with his wife and returned to Argentina. The estate was inherited by another nephew, Charles, while Maria married Ian Strange and stayed on the Falklands. Maria had never been to the UK, but had gone to a British school in Argentina and mixed with Anglo-Argentine friends. She found the local climate difficult to get used to, but otherwise was seduced by the peace and Britishness of local customs. ‘Coming to the islands after living in Argentina for twenty-eight years was like moving to another planet,’ Maria later recalled, ‘politics didn’t seem to come into the picture as far as I was concerned then. This was a little piece of paradise and I guess I was pretty untouched by, and fairly oblivious to, the ghastly goings-on in the country I had left behind, in spite of getting the La Opinión newspaper (a liberal newspaper that was eventually closed down by the military) regularly for quite a while and getting news through correspondence with friends. For close on ten years I isolated myself even further by spending very busy and memorably enjoyable summer seasons on New Island, pioneering wildlife tourism, environmental research etc, alongside Ian.’


  Another relationship that bridged the political divide in the aftermath of the Communications Agreement involved the Reid/McLeod family nexus. Ronald ‘Reynolds’ Reid was born of Anglo-Scottish parentage in Rio Gallegos, Argentina, in 1922. He settled in the Falklands in 1960, earning a good wage as a jack of all trades, and eventually investing his savings in the purchase of a pub called the Victory Bar and a small diner he named Ronald’s Cafe. Along the way he married Margaret McLeod, a local teenager, whose widowed mother had recently moved to Stanley from the West Falkland settlement of Fox Bay West overlooking the San Carlos estuary. When the Communications Agreement was signed, Reid boosted his earnings by distributing cylinders of propane gas to households, government buildings, and businesses under agency arrangements with the Argentine state gas company, Gas del Estado. Bilingual in English and Spanish, Reid established himself as a link between the local community and the Argentine representative office which, under the agreement, was established in Port Stanley to look after the interests of the State-owned airline and energy companies that provided services to the islands. In 1973, Reid’s brother-in-law Kenneth McLeod became involved in what the Argentine media celebrated as a significant propaganda coup for those favouring greater integration with the islands. McLeod brought his four children over to Argentina to complete their education, because the Falklands only had primary schools, and took up residence and a job as a bank clerk in Buenos Aires. Although a small number of island teenagers had been educated in English-language schools in Argentina before, this was reported to the world as the first recorded time since a British naval officer had first raised the Union Jack over the islands in 1833 that an island family had come to live in Buenos Aires. McLeod’s move was helped by some financial assistance he received both for himself and his children from the Argentine Ministry of Welfare. In his statements to the press, McLeod touched all the right buttons by describing himself as a pioneer who had found the Argentines ‘extremely welcoming and helpful’.


  McLeod’s arrival on Argentine soil had been preceded by the highly publicised visit of Gordon Lewis, the relatively new Governor of the Falklands. Two years previously, in the final stages of talks leading to the Communications Agreement, the New Zealand-born Lewis had replaced the controversial Cosmo Haskard, regarded as a die-hard British colonialist by the Argentines and an unhelpful hawk by the Foreign Office. Both governments trusted that the affable Lewis had been appointed to the right place at the right time  possibly the first Governor in over 100 years who might instil a greater sense of realism in the islanders for whom he had responsibility. On arriving in Buenos Aires, Lewis was given VIP treatment by the Argentine authorities, a fact that he made much of in statements to the local media. ‘Two years ago when I first took up my post in the islands, it would have been difficult for me to come to Buenos Aires,’ Lewis said. ‘The fact that I’m here now on my first visit and that the Argentine authorities have accorded me every diplomatic courtesy is a sign of the tremendous change in attitude … all this interchange between the two peoples has led to a climate of much greater understanding.’


  Yet bluff had replaced bluster. British officials struggled to keep the dreaded issue of sovereignty at bay. For their part, the Argentine Foreign Ministry revived a time-tested strategy and put sovereignty back on the agenda, against the backdrop of growing internal political instability from which British officials had insulated themselves in their dealings over the Falklands. In May 1969, the British Labour government was seeking an accommodation between the islands and Argentina when Córdoba, the country’s second major city, erupted in a major social uprising against the government’s economic programme. What began as a demonstration and a general strike, led by students and workers, gained the increasingly militant support of a wide cross-section of the population, as rioters and police fought running battles for some forty-eight hours. The Cordobazo was destined to become one of the key moments of Argentine twentieth-century political history, rivalling the great general strike of 1919, and the march on Buenos Aires by the ‘shirtless ones’ that brought Perón to power in 1946. It divided the military and brought to the surface a pre-Revolutionary movement that, at the start of the decade of the 1970s, unleashed a period of unprecedented terrorist violence from left and right, and widespread violation of human rights. In the months following the Cordobazo the apparent political calm of the three years of the Onganía regime crumbled in the face of mounting violence.


  In June 1970 armed struggle of a kind that was to engulf a whole generation surfaced with the kidnapping and execution of a former President, General Aramburu. Responsibility was claimed by the Montoneros, a paramilitary group influenced by the liberation doctrine of Che Guevara, and committed to the use of terrorism to bring about a nationalist uprising in support of the still exiled Perón. Within days General Onganía had been toppled in a palace coup. His replacement, General Levingston, suffered the same fate within nine months. On 17 September 1971, Argentina’s next President, General Lanusse, promised that democratic elections would be held within two years, paving the way for the return of Perón. This resulted in the start of another cycle of violence. The announcement had been preceded by an act of morbid myth-making which many Argentines considered part of their political destiny: the digging up of Evita Perón’s embalmed remains from a cemetery in Italy where she had been secretly buried after Perón’s downfall. The body was flown to Madrid and placed in a venerated chamber above the bedroom Perón shared with his latest wife Isabelita, pending the return of all three to Argentina.


  Two military palace coups in less than a year and the political beatification of the dead Evita, however, turned out to be the least unsettling aspect of Argentine politics during the early 1970s. Bank robberies, kidnappings of foreign and local business executives, assassinations of military and police officers, fuelled a growing sense of political and social disintegration. Right-wing terrorist groups took on left-wing activists, and a new, far more sinister generation of ambitious military men rattled their sabres. For a while the British Embassy in Buenos Aires seemed to take it all with a diplomatic pinch of salt, continuing its endless round of social engagements with Argentine officials and local members of the Anglo-Argentine community. At a cabaret organised by the local anglos, the British diplomat and future MP Ray Whitney brought the house down, playing a John Bull look-alike resplendent in bowler hat and breeches, who defiantly sang a patriotic song before being carted off by some latino heavies. The act was discreetly shelved after the kidnapping in neighbouring Uruguay of the British Ambassador, Geoffrey Jackson. In January 1972, only six months after the announcement of the Communications Agreement, Argentina pressed for negotiations to be resumed on the issue of sovereignty. The agreement had specifically stated that no activities pursued as a consequence of it should constitute a basis for asserting, supporting, or denying the position of either government with regard to territorial sovereignty over the Falklands. But Argentina now made clear that she wasn’t prepared, in her view, to give everything in return for nothing. For from the perspective of Buenos Aires, the islanders drew considerably more benefit from the improved links than Argentina did in economic and social terms. It was not just the air service that ran at a loss and was in effect subsidised by the Argentine government. The same argument came to be applied to the supply of fuel by the Argentine State company YPF, guaranteeing lower petrol and diesel prices than those which had existed previously. Then there was the access the islanders were given to the mainland’s health and educational services. By 1975, twenty-four island children were attending schools in Argentina, while the islanders accounted for over 400 passenger movements per year on the flights to the mainland.


  Argentine nationalism was fuelled with the Perónist party’s election victory in March 1973, and the swearing in as President of Perón himself the following October. Argentine foreign policy revived the leader’s ‘Third Force Position’ of nonalignment with the forces of imperialism, while pushing the country’s aspiration as a regional leader determined to reassert her historic sovereignty claims. Argentina again turned to the United Nations to obtain international legitimacy for her obsession with the Malvinas, and obtained further resolutions calling on both parties to accelerate negotiations aimed at resolving the dispute. In December 1974, Cronica, always willing to stir things up, launched a media campaign advocating an invasion of the islands. The British Embassy once again sought and obtained reassurances from the Argentine Foreign Ministry that Cronica was simply engaged in a publicity-seeking stunt that did not reflect any government plan. In fact towards the end of 1973, Perón, partly as a tactic to keep the military politically on side, had told senior officers to revive old contingency plans and to study them as an option to be used if negotiations led nowhere. During 1974, Whitehall’s Joint Intelligence Committee reported that an ‘adventurist’ operation could also threaten the islands again, and that the Argentine government would be unlikely to discourage it. Among those now pressuring Perón politically from left  and right  extremes of his movement were some of the veterans of the Condor hijack, including its organiser Dardo Cabo, who, after his release from prison in 1969, had joined the Montoneros. When Perón returned to power Cabo was editor of the weekly El Descamisado at a time when left and right remained united only in the extreme nationalism that lay behind their loyalty to the General. ‘Today, Perón is Argentina. He is Sovereignty. He is Fatherland,’ the Montoneros proclaimed.


  The hardening of Argentine attitudes confirmed the worst fears among those islanders who had argued that the Communications Agreement opened the back door to territorial encroachment by a country of barbarians and military dictators. Following Perón’s death on 1 July 1974, and his succession by his widow Isabelita, who had previously been Vice-President, Argentina was plunged to new depths of political violence and intolerance. A diary kept by journalist Brian Mooney gave a vivid sense of the kind of country that the Falkland Islanders were being asked to link up with. Typical was an entry for 24 October 1975:


  Theft of Aramburu’s body from La Recoleta cemetery, one block from my new flat. This, much more than the slaughter of 122 people since 1 July, has really dug deep into the middle-class gut. The killings happen in far away suburbs and when they take place at close range, it’s just another laudable performance by the Triple A (the right-wing Perónist murder squad). That’s how my neighbour explained it. She sounded very disturbed … They have gone too far this time. I reflect on Aramburu’s fate. Kidnapped and murdered by the Montoneros and now kidnapped by them again, this time for the ransom of another body. The Montoneros want Evita brought home. They see her as the standard bearer of their revolution. So this is what they mean by the body politic. But to my mind Argentina’s political necrophilia is not half as bad as the unhealthy silence adopted by my neighbour and those who preach and practise that ‘Silencio es Salud.’ (Silence is Healthy.).


  Eleven days later, Mooney wrote a vivid eyewitness account of the assassination of General Villar, the Buenos Aires Federal Police Chief. The journalist was sailing with a friend on the River Luján, near Buenos Aires, pondering whether to buy the lively wooden sloop, when a monster bang interrupted their thoughts. A Montonero bomb had shot the cabin roof of Villar’s luxury motor launch two hundred feet into the air. The policeman himself was blown to pieces, his limbs shredded by the detonation of a bandolier of grenades he had strapped to his stomach for protection. ‘Just another day in Buenos Aires,’ noted Mooney wryly.


  The Reuters journalist had earlier that year travelled to the islands to test the impact of the Communications Agreement. He found a society undoubtedly taking advantage of some of the material benefits of greater links with the South American mainland, but in a majority firmly opposed to any move that threatened their culture and politics. ‘The inhabitants of the remote British-administered Falkland Islands have created what many people describe as a unique society … isolated in the South Atlantic, close to Argentina which claims them, and thousands of miles from London, the islanders have developed a blend of life  partly their own, a little bit South American and mostly British,’ he reported. Some islanders confided that the deliberations of the Governor and those who sat on the Executive and Legislative Council lacked transparency, but on the whole there was satisfaction that the system was a great deal more democratic than the militarised society across the water. The islanders moreover thrived on gossip so that few things were kept secret for too long! But few local institutions more forcefully underlined the difference with Argentina than the local justice system. The British-style police force  seven unarmed officers  acted like a welfare association, mixing in a relaxed, informal way with the local population and only occasionally having to deal firmly with misdemeanours. This and the comparative absence of serious crime figured prominently in islanders’ minds when they considered the prospect of Argentina pressing its sovereignty claims. The main problem faced by the local police was the heavy drinking that took place on the islands, and the driving offences this caused. Terry Peck, the islands’ Chief-of-Police for twenty years until 1981 when he became a member of the Executive and Legislative Council, later recalled those halcyon days in a book of reminiscences compiled by the writer Angela Wigglesworth:


  When I used to walk round after the pubs were cleared at night, I’d probably come across someone I knew who was the worse for wear trying to clamber into his vehicle. You knew he wasn’t intending to harm anyone so you’d just take the keys from him, push him into the passenger seat and drive him home. And if you met somebody else who was the worse for wear, you’d put him in the back of the Land Rover and take him home too. I can remember one evening taking twelve Royal Marines back to Moody Brook, all in the same car, when they were stoned out of their minds.


  But the islands had devised another way of dealing with habitual drunks. They were placed on a ‘black list’ which effectively barred them from obtaining any alcohol from stores, pubs, and hotels.


  Historically, the islands had been populated mainly by immigrants coming from the UK. They came from a wide variety of places from Scotland to the south of England, as individuals or in small groups. On arrival a majority moved into widely dispersed and very small settlements. And yet if the islanders came with relatively little in common, such cultural features, as were readily apparent, reflected a strong, even fierce awareness of British origins. Both in the lead-up to the 1982 invasion and in its aftermath, the strong pro-British and anti-Argentine lobby, the Falkland Islands Committee, had the main grip on local economic and political interests, and used its representatives in London to influence British parliamentary opinion. During the 1970s this verged on xenophobia among those most suspicious of Argentine intentions, as the correspondent Mooney discovered to his own personal cost. In his unpublished memoirs, he commented:


  Seven years before the Argentines came crashing through the doors, there was much talk on the islands about Britain pulling out. No one liked the idea and some pressurised against it with a vigour that seemed blimpish. The Falkland Islands Committee would say that Argentina had millions of acres in Patagonia that they neither farmed nor used properly. What do they need us for? Governor Gordon Lewis took a seemingly more realistic view and would say on the record that the sovereignty issue would have to be addressed.


  Mooney gave an amusing account of his personal experience of the Governor’s New Year’s Eve Ball, the islands’ social event of the year, which he attended at the end of 1974:


  This was dance cards territory: ladies lined up by numbers and rank for a waltz, a quickstep, foxtrot and Gay Gordons  no tango. The buzz of the ball was that Lewis, who was leaving after a four-year grind, had not been honoured with a New Year’s knighthood, another mean message from Britain’s Labour government. There was a sort of collective mourning for the lost knighthood. If the Governor wasn’t worth a Sir, what were the islands worth?


  The ball turned out to be a political and social minefield. Mooney spent the evening dancing with the attractive wife of Vice-Commodore Carlos Bloomer-Reeve, the Argentine air force officer stationed in Stanley as part of the Communications Agreement. His very presence in the Governor’s residence, symbolic of the good relationship the Foreign Office wanted to pursue with Buenos Aires, was not one that gratified every islander, even though Bloomer-Reeve’s natural charm had forged local friendships. The large house the Bloomer-Reeves occupied along the waterfront in Stanley was particularly irksome to those who had lived hard-working lives in small and rudimentary cottages. ‘In any society my close embrace of the beautiful wife of a military officer and special envoy might have stirred tongues,’ recollected Mooney. ‘But this was the Falklands in 1975, and the scandal broke when we gave up our embrace and started to talk. Our chatter exploded around the wood panelled room and shot out like pieces of shrapnel into the dark, evil night. We were distinctly heard speaking Spanish. At last the truth was out: I was not a British journalist at all but an Argentine spy!’


  Lack of trust in all things Argentine had led to the Falkland Islands Executive Council refusing to participate in talks aimed at paving the way for joint sovereignty over the islands or condominium. The idea had surfaced within the Foreign Office in the last days of the Heath government. Both the Governor of the Falklands and the British Embassy in Buenos Aires had thought the idea worth pursuing. It briefly survived the March 1974 general election in which Harold Wilson was elected Prime Minister. If there was a continuing assessment within Whitehall that persuaded Conservative and Labour ministers alike it was this: talks that touched even remotely on sovereignty  and thus appeased the Argentines  were better than the risks of economic and military action against the islands. There was also the view, however, based on the political embarrassment of previous pro-Falklands parliamentary outbursts, that the wishes of the islanders could not be ignored. In August 1974, the British government informed Argentina that it was abandoning further talks on condominium because of the islanders’ continuing refusal to participate.


  In January 1975, Neville French took up his post as the new Governor of the Falklands. French was a fluent Spanish speaker who had personal ties with South America  and several friendships in Argentina  through his marriage to his part-Uruguayan wife. Unlike his predecessor Gordon Lewis’s much publicised visit to Buenos Aires two years earlier to celebrate improved links with the islands, French’s passage in transit through the Argentine capital was a secretive affair. Argentina had turned violent, and foreigners were no longer as welcome as they once had been. French had served in naval intelligence during the Second World War after which he had developed a reputation for high-risk diplomacy in troublesome spots. He had been expelled as a British diplomat for alleged spying by Rhodesia’s Prime Minister Ian Smith at the time of the British colony’s unilateral Declaration of Independence. His most recent posting had been to Cuba where he had distinguished himself successfully negotiating the liberation of the Belgian Ambassador who had been kidnapped by anti-Castroites. Despite the débâcle over condominium, the Foreign Office believed that the Governor’s main role should continue to be a cautiously persuasive one: instilling a sense among the islanders that their best interests lay in maintaining links with Argentina. London remained anxious to keep its own trade and political ties with Argentina and did not want the Falklands factor to be a disruptive influence.


  Long ago seemed the days of Cosmo Haskard, when the Governor ruled the islands like a friendly patriarch, not just encouraging the islanders to have views different to Whitehall’s but representing them as well. French’s background in intelligence meant that he lent a sensitive eye and ear to any Argentine military threats but he was also ambitious enough to believe that he might also contribute to moving the islands further out of their isolationism. Both factors contributed to making the period of French’s governorship particularly eventful.


  In the following months, the government of Isabelita Perón tried to restore the momentum on the issue of sovereignty, straining diplomatic relations between London and Buenos Aires to breaking point. At the time the Perón government was worrying not just about London but Washington as well because of the strong ties it was developing with the Soviet Union during Isabelita’s time. Argentina was establishing itself as a major supplier of wheat to the Soviets and there were Western fears of secret deals over the Falkland Islands. US intelligence in particular was picking up rumours that Argentina  in the event of invading and occupying the islands  was prepared to lease them to the Soviet Union thus giving Moscow a strategic foothold in the South Atlantic. Such fears continued to dominate US interests in the Falklands throughout the seventies. Such was the increasingly inflammatory nature of the statements made by Argentina’s Minister for Foreign Affairs, Vignes, that the new British Ambassador was instructed by the Foreign Office in April 1975 to warn him that any attack on the islands would be met with a military response. The Foreign Office feared it was running out of cards to play with. Whitehall threw down an only too familiar deck, proposing in July 1975 talks on joint Anglo-Argentine development of the resources in the South Atlantic. Seismic studies by Canadian and British companies had confirmed the likelihood of sizeable oil reserves off the islands  an extension of the Argentine continental shelf. Yet any attempt by the islands to pursue a unilateral policy of issuing licences for further exploration was problematical because of the political risks involved and the high cost of any development without Argentina’s co-operation. Argentina thus raised the stakes. The response from Vignes was that any significant economic co-operation needed to be tied to the transfer of sovereignty. He also proposed that Argentina should be allowed to occupy the islands of South Georgia and South Sandwich. The talks were dead in their tracks. The Foreign Office’s idea had been that to keep talking was better than confrontation. But from the Argentine point of view, the British were talking without really saying anything. As the then Perónist Ambassador to London, Manuel Anchorena, recalled years later in a revealing interview with the Irish Times correspondent Olivia O’Leary: ‘With Perón dead, the British had lost interest in the negotiations on the Falklands, which under Perón had reached near agreement on condominium. With Perón gone, we knew the British would backtrack. We had nothing to lose, so we might as well have taken over the islands and if our government had to go, it would have gone down in glory.’


  The excuse to raise the temperature the Argentine nationalists within the government were looking for came in October 1975, when the British government announced the terms of reference for a comprehensive, long-term economic survey of the islands led by a team of British experts headed by Lord Shackleton. The idea had developed from a secret meeting that had taken place the previous May in the Brazilian city of Rio de Janeiro. It had involved a Foreign Office emissary, Governor French, and four Falkland Islands councillors. The purpose of the meeting was to discuss new alternatives for the islands’ future away from local political pressure. The fact that French’s daughter and son-in-law were then living and working in Rio provided some cover from too much Argentinian interest about his flight to Brazil via Buenos Aires. The islands’ situation was precarious. The links with Argentina brought about by the Communications Agreement had had mixed results and had turned into a source of tension on occasion. Buenos Aires had shown a tendency to impose temporary travel restrictions on islanders as a form of pressure, while also asking to step up its flights with simultaneous visits to the islands with a cargo plane as well as a passenger plane. French thought the Argentines posed a potential security risk. His intelligence assessment was that any invasion of the islands was likely to come from the air not the sea. He insisted that the planes should stagger their flights by several hours so as to ensure against infiltration of too large a number of potential invaders. A number of overflights by Argentine air force planes that claimed to have lost their way on their journey back from the Antarctic were treated with suspicion. On one occasion, a large plane that had not been scheduled to fly into the islands came in as if intending to land. The small local Royal Marines contingent were put on alert, got their weapons ready and covered the airstrip with their Land Rovers to stop it from doing so. The incident was taken very seriously locally, but when the message got through to London and the British Embassy in Buenos Aires, ministers and officials decided to ignore it so as not to fuel what they considered an increasingly hostile atmosphere in the Argentine capital.


  It was against this background of insecurity that thoughts at the Rio meeting had inevitably turned once again to the question of Britain’s own commitment to ensuring a more stable future for the islands. French believed that by sending a top-level team of experts to the islands to investigate local needs, the government could demonstrate that it was serious in respecting not just the islanders’ wishes but also in furthering their interests even if the upshot of the inquiry involved drawing Argentina into any future economic development that was planned. The councillors for their part were anxious to ensure that nothing that was done would involve a transfer of sovereignty. They insisted that the Shackleton survey should take in their views exclusively and not include any contribution from Argentina. The Foreign Office agreed to do a survey on the islanders’ terms, while taking advice from French on what should be its scope and scale. The team drew as its main context the decline in population and economic backwardness of the islands. It was tasked with examining the prospects of economic development with specific reference to the wool industry, the need for diversification, and possible exploitation of the islands’ natural resources  oil, fisheries, and alginates. It was also asked to advise on the priorities for capital expenditure over the next five years, with particular reference to the need for improved infrastructure, public utilities, and housing. Finally, it was to assess the financial, manpower, and social implications of a development strategy, looking not just at the scope for local investment, but the ‘extent to which all these needs can be met from local resources and the degree to which recourse to all potential external resources may be necessary’.


  The initiative provoked widespread hostility in Argentina, both inside and outside government. Lack of bilateral consultation leading up to it, and the exclusion of any Argentine representative on the Shackleton team, raised suspicions that what was being contemplated was the economic self-sufficiency and political autonomy of the islands in a way that in the long term would reduce their dependency on the UK, and provide an alternative to the transfer of sovereignty to Argentina. For fifty years there had been many studies and reports on the islands. Outside inspectors had come and gone, drawn up recommendations, only to have most of them ignored. But the Shackleton initiative had its supporters among hard-line island opinion that increasingly opposed what it saw as the creeping Argentine encroachment on the local economy as a result of the Communications Agreement. In 1975 there had been protests against the presence of the two Argentine companies YPF and LADE on the islands, and a visiting Argentine cruise ship had been forced to cut short a trip to the islands after refusing to fly the British naval Red Ensign as a courtesy on entering port. Such acts infuriated the nationalists in Buenos Aires who had argued against the Communications Agreement. The Shackleton initiative simply confirmed their view that the agreement had been a British con-trick forcing Argentina to develop its links with the islands, without reference to its territorial claim  a defacto recognition of British sovereignty.


  In December 1975, the arrival of the Shackleton team on the islands provoked a symbolic reaction. Argentina warned the British Embassy that RSS Shackleton, an unarmed ship engaged on a programme of international scientific research unconnected with Lord Shackleton’s mission, would be arrested if she entered ‘Argentine waters’. As defined by the Argentine navy, this extended to a limit of 200 miles off the Argentine coast, which included waters surrounding the Falklands. Thanks to Governor French, the Governor’s House in Stanley had shifted from being a colonial outpost to a one-man communications and intelligence base. Lord Shackleton himself had on visiting been shocked by the few back-up human resources London had given French for anticipating any Argentinian move, and indeed the extent to which real state secrets were concentrated in the person of the Governor. For example, no other officials, let alone island representatives on the Executive and Legislative Council, were cleared to read classified and secret transmits from London. Under French, the islands’ distrust about the hidden motives of Foreign Office ministers and their officials, including the Governor himself, intensified. And yet instinct and initiative had meant that French was himself well informed about Argentina’s planned military movements. The Governor drew on intelligence sources in the Argentine navy and in Chile to establish what exactly lay behind the Argentine naval warning against RSS Shackleton. The navy chief responsible for issuing the warning, Admiral Emilio Massera, was a dangerous and ambitious political animal who had managed to manœuvre himself into a position of considerable influence under Perónist rule. He had developed ties with the extreme right wing of the Perońist party, using his good looks and superficial charm to win the trust of the President, Isabelita Perón, and two ministers  López Rega, the sinister Minister of Social Welfare who organised the Triple A right-wing death squads, and Vignes, the volatile Foreign Minister. All three men were linked to the Pro Patria, the Argentine arm of Propaganda Due, an international extreme right-wing network set up in the 1970s by the Italian businessman Licio Gelli. French learnt from his sources that Massera had every intention of creating an international incident over the Falklands in order to raise his political profile, but that he would pull back from full-scale confrontation with Britain. Isabelita’s government was becoming increasingly unpopular with sectors of the armed forces including the army, and Massera knew he did not have the support for a full-scale invasion of the islands. On the basis of the intelligence French had been instrumental in gathering, London, in consultation with naval Chiefs-of-Staff, gave the Governor instructions on how to deal with the planned incident. French handed the captain of the RSS Shackleton instructions in a sealed envelope which were to be opened only after the ship sailed towards Antarctica on its planned mission. The captain was given a detailed contingency plan for dealing with the planned Argentine military action. However good Governor French’s intelligence sources might have been, they stopped short of telling him the precise timing of the action. When it happened, six weeks after Massera had issued his initial warning, French and his wife Deborah had just packed their bags to go off on a short holiday when the Governor received an urgent alert from RSS Shackleton.


  The ship had been approached by an Argentine destroyer, the Almirante Storni, as she was sailing back to the Falklands from Antarctica and had entered a part of the ocean which was within 200 miles of the Argentine mainland. The captain of Almirante Storni had fired warning shots across the Shackleton’s bows, before ordering it to sail to the Argentine southern naval base of Ushuaia. The British captain refused and, following his instructions from French, who was by now in contact by radio, suggested that the Almirante Storni should instead accompany the Shackleton to Port Stanley. Such an idea, the British captain insisted in a deadpan naval officer’s voice, was in recognition that Port Stanley was considered by the Argentine navy to be an Argentine port! From morning till night, the stand-off continued, the increasingly sharp exchanges between the two captains dutifully recorded on a tape machine by the crew of the Shackleton for posterity. At one point, the British captain, fearing that the Argentine guns might hit his ship by mistake, warned the Argentines to stop shooting because he had explosives on board. By then some of Shackleton’s crew were concerned that at the very least the Argentines might try to hit the ship’s communications system so as to interrupt its links with Stanley. Yet their captain, as instructed by French, was deliberately playing for time to allow the despatch of the British Antarctic Survey vessel HMS Endurance, from Stanley. For his part the Argentine captain was doing exactly as his navy chief had instructed him  he was neither sinking the enemy vessel nor causing casualties. The game of mutual bluff ended peacefully with a helicopter from HMS Endurance arriving on the scene, and the Storni turning back towards the Argentine mainland. She had last fired on Shackleton some seventy-eight miles south of Port Stanley. Massera, as predicted, had chosen to go no further in staging a stunt on the high seas to assert Argentine sovereignty. The incident led to the withdrawal of ambassadors from London and Buenos Aires. By now Massera’s political ambition and opportunism were paramount and his attention had already switched to the prospect of real power, and the military coup that would make it possible.
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